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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Xian Yuen Titanium Resources Holdings Limited (the

“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), I am pleased to present herewith the

annual report of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31 December 2007.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year, carpet manufacturing and trading were the core business of the Group. However, while the

turnover of the core business was substantially increased, the Group suffered a loss of HK$37.8 million in

manufacturing and trading of carpet segments which include the deficits on revaluation of property, plant and

equipment of HK$27 million. The loss of HK$10.8 million, excluding the deficits on revaluation of property,

plant and equipment, was mainly due to the low profit margin of our goods as we faced very keen pricing

competition in Hong Kong, PRC and overseas.

The Directors therefore considered that the disposal of part of the carpet manufacturing and trading business

would allow the Group to focus on and to spare additional resources to fund its investment in the mining

business. For further details, please refer to the Company’s circular dated 21 April 2008.

On 16 January 2008, the Company has entered into a non-binding memorandum of understanding with an

independent third party to dispose of Orient Carpet Manufacturing (HK) Limited and Hui Zhou Orient Carpet

Manufacturing Company Limited. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 16 January 2008

for further information.

On 10 March 2008, the Company has entered into a share sale agreement with an independent third party to

dispose of International Carpet Company Limited for a total consideration of HK$200,000. For details, please

refer to the circular of the Company dated 21 April 2008.

On 8 April 2008, Smooth Way International Limited (“Smooth Way”) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)

as a purchaser entered into an agreement with Ms. Leung Lai Ching, Margaret (“Ms. Leung”), a substantial

shareholder of the Company, pursuant to which Smooth Way conditionally agreed to acquire from Ms. Leung

the 49% equity interests in Kanson Development Limited (“Kanson”) for a total consideration of HK$960.78

million to be paid to Ms. Leung by the issue of the convertible bonds. Please refer to the Company’s

announcement dated 18 April 2008 for further details.

LOGISTICS AND FINANCIAL BUSINESS

In July 2007, the Group, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Aurora Logistic Capital Assurance Limited,

acquired 51% interests of Hebei Da Sheng Warranty Company Limited (“Da Sheng”). The principal business

of Da Sheng is to support PRC enterprises by acting as the guarantor of the enterprise, and by providing

guarantees to financial institutions to secure credit facilities to the enterprise, thereby allowing the enterprise

to obtain additional credit limit. The business of Da Sheng has not yet been commenced and it is anticipated

that further time and capital is required for developing the logistics and financial business of Da Sheng.

During the year, Aurora Logistic Finance Group Inc. and its subsidiaries including Da Sheng recorded a loss

of HK$5.1 million. The Directors considered that the disposal of partial interest in Da Sheng would allow the

Company to focus on and to spare additional resources to fund its investments in the mining business. For

further details, please refer to the Company’s circular dated 21 April 2008.
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TRADING OF GOODS

In March 2007, the Group acquired 70% interest of Win Alliance Development Limited (“Win Alliance”) which

enables the Group to expand its source of income from the trading of seamless steel and other goods. For the

year ended 31 December 2007, the turnover of this segment of our business was HK$15 million (2006: Nil)

and the loss of this segment is HK$813,000 (2006: Nil). The Group will endeavour to improve the gross profit

of trading and further explore the customer base to contribute a profit in the future.

XIAOHONGSHAN (LITTLE RED MOUNTAIN) MINERAL PROPERTY

In November 2007, the Group acquired 51% equity interests of Kanson from Ms. Leung Lai Ching, Margaret,

through Smooth Way International Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Qinghai Forest Source

Mining Industry Developing Company Limited (Kanson’s wholly-owned subsidiary), a wholly foreign owned

enterprise established in the PRC, holds an exploration license of a mineral property in 2km by 1km rectangular

area of Little Red Mountain located in Inner Mongolia (the “Mine”).

Current status/latest development of the Mine held by Kanson

The relevant key metallurgical tests on the samples from the Mine have been completed by the Changsha

Research Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, the Changsha Central South University and the Sichuan University

that are all leading testing facilities and institutes in the PRC with specialized expertise in the beneficiation

processes of iron, titanium and phosphate products from ore rock. The test results have been reviewed by an

external panel of PRC experts in the relevant fields and were considered to be appropriate and sufficient for

use in the feasibility studies of the project.

An additional diamond drilling program has been carried out at the Mine and the relevant geological report is

being compiled. The feasibility study report which is required for the application of the mining license for the

Mine is under preparation. Support letters for the provision of water, power and land for the mining development

at the Little Red Mountain mine site (Inner Mongolia) and at the processing plant site at Yumen (Gansu) have

been provided by the local government. Temporary site offices have been set up at the Little Red Mountain

mine site.

FUTURE PLAN AND PROSPECTS

The Board is encouraged by the continuing increase in the global demands for iron and titanium products.

According to a summary report on the International Titanium Association (ITA) 23rd Annual Meeting and

Conference, the overall demand for the use of titanium in all segments of the industry is expected to grow

from 80,000 tonnes in 2006 to 107,000 tonnes in 2010, increasing by 34%. Strong global demands for iron

ore come from Asia, particularly China. This has resulted in a significant world-wide price increase of iron

ore. According to the information obtained from Chinaccm.com, in 2007, China has imported around 0.38

billion tonnes of iron ore which amounted to about 50% of its annual demand. Also, the Chinese government

has continued to encourage the development of iron ore mines and the beneficiation of iron and associated

products, resulting in a steady upward trend in the pricing of iron and titanium products in the domestic

market in the PRC. Therefore, the Board is optimistic about the Company’s mining business.
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We will dedicate more resources to the exploration and development of the Mine at Little Red Mountain, such

as registration of the mineral resources, delineation of the approved mining area, project feasibility study and

application of the mining license. It is anticipated that the above work will be completed within the third

quarter of 2008. Upon acquisition of the mining license, detailed design and development work could

commence. Apart from the future business plan as discussed above, the Company will continue to put efforts

on the aspects of operational improvement and cost-effectiveness enhancement in order to achieve higher

returns to shareholders.

CHANGE OF NAME

Pursuant to the approval of shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting held on 1 February 2008, the

name of the Company has been changed from “Aurora Global Investment Holdings Limited” to “Xian Yuen

Titanium Resources Holdings Limited” and the Company has adopted a new Chinese name “森源鈦礦控股有

限公司” to replace “旭日環球投資控股有限公司” for identification purposes only.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, I would take this opportunity to express my sincere thanks to all shareholders for their

continuing support, and all the Directors and staff of the Group for their loyalty, commitment and diligence in

the past year.

By order of the Board

Tam Owen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 April 2008
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The Group’s turnover for the year ended 31 December 2007 was approximately HK$55.6 million, which

represented an increase of 110% compared to the previous year. The administrative expenses for the year

ended 31 December 2007 were approximately HK$50 million, which represented an increase of 29% compared

to the expenses incurred last year.

The consolidated loss attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2007

was increased to approximately HK$79 million, as compared to HK$46 million in the previous corresponding

year.

As a significant portion of the Group’s sales and purchases were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and

Renminbi, the directors considered the Group has no significant exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations in

view of the stability of the exchange rates of Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. During the year under review,

the Group did not use any hedging instrument.

CURRENT AND GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2007, the Group has total assets of approximately HK$870 million (2006: HK$101 million),

total liabilities of HK$246 million (2006: HK$38 million), indicating a gearing ratio 0.28 (2006: 0.37) on the

basis of total liabilities over total assets. The current ratio of the Group for the year was 2.47 (2006: 0.49).

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2007, the Group had no interest-bearing bank borrowings and assets was pledged.

(2006: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2007, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 31 December 2007, the Group employed approximately 191 full-time employees (2006: 139), mostly at

the Group’s subsidiary factories for manufacturing carpets. The Group’s emolument policies are formulated

on the performance of individual employees and are reviewed annually in line with industry practice. The

Group also provides provident fund schemes (as the case may be) to its employees depending on the location

of such employees.

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2007 (2006:

Nil).
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tam Owen, aged 50, has been appointed as Executive Director and Chairman since June 2007 and July

2007 respectively. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Science from the University of Oregon in U.S.A. He is

currently a director in a various financing, investment and security companies. Mr. Tam has over 15 years

extensive experience in wealth, asset management and customer service in the financial services industry

and possess in depth trade knowledge of all major financial products in Hong Kong and overseas major

markets.

Dr. Yuen Clement Ming Kai, aged 61, has been appointed as Vice Chairman and Executive Director since

November 2007. He holds the Master and Ph.D. degrees both in Geotechnical Engineering from the University

of Western Ontario in Canada. He is a member of professional engineer institutions in Hong Kong, U.K. and

Canada. Dr. Yuen has over 30 years of experience in geotechnical engineering consulting, infrastructure

investment and operation as well as mining projects management. His wide exposure was gained from having

worked for international corporations of prime names such as Cheung Kong Infrastructure Holdings Limited

and Golder Associates Limited in Hong Kong and Canada. Main responsibilities while with his former employers

include directing infrastructure projects (tolled bridges and highways, airports, tunnels) covering the design-

build-finance-operate stages and investigating-planning-developing phases of major mining properties. Types

of mine handled include gold, zinc, nickel and iron, and project locations spread over China, Hong Kong,

Canada and the U.S.

Mr. Law Fei Shing, aged 48, has been appointed as Executive Director, Company Secretary and Qualified

Accountant since August 2004 and appointed as Chief Executive Officer since November 2007. Mr. Law is a

practising Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong. He is also a member of American Institute of Certified

Public Accountants (AICPA), USA and associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants (HKICPA). Mr. Law has over 18 years of experience in the audit and accounting services.

Mr. Law was an independent non-executive director of New Times Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 166)

for the period from September 2005 to October 2006, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and an executive director and company secretary

of Tiger Tech Holdings Limited (stock code: 8046) for the period from June to October 2007, the shares of

which are listed on the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. So Chi Keung, aged 44, was appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director for the period from

March to June 2005 and was re-designed as Executive Director since then. Mr. So has been serving as the

managing directors of numerous private companies. He had extensive experiences in purchase, sales and

marketing of Chinese herbal medicine in previous years. Since 1989, Mr. So has been serving in the Food

and Beverages industry for over 11 years and is currently taking active role in the management and investment

of numerous Chinese restaurants in Hong Kong. Recently, he has extended his scope of business and

investment to real-estate development, private equities management, strategic and investments consultancy

in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau. Mr. So had professional knowledge and experience in human

resource and financial management of firms in different business.
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Mr. Fok Po Tin, aged 48, has been appointed as Executive Director since March 2007. He holds a Bachelor’s

degree in Business Administration with houours from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor’s

degree in Laws from the Peiking University. He is currently a practicing solicitor of the High Court of Hong

Kong and is the principal of Henry Fok & Company, Solicitors. Mr. Fok has over 13 years of extensive experience

as a solicitor of general practice and is very familiar with commercial law. He currently is an executive director

of Yueshou Environmental Holdings Limited (stock code: 1191) and Bestway International Holdings Limited

(Stock Code: 718). These companies are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Leung Kai Hung, aged 38, has been appointed as Executive Director since March 2007. He holds a

Master’s degree in Finance from the National University of Ireland. He also obtained a professional diploma

in Financial Planning from the School of Professional and Continuing Education of the University of Hong

Kong. Mr. Leung is a Certified Financial PlannerCM and was a senior tax consultant of a tax consultancy firm.

Mr. Yeung Delon, aged 29, holds a Bachelor’s degree in Arts with major in Economics from the Simon Fraser

University in Canada. He has been appointed as Executive Director since June 2007 and had previously

assumed the positions of senior consultant, project manager and sales executive of various companies in

Canada and Hong Kong. With extensive experience in corporate finance, management, and sales and

marketing, he is currently in the Postgraduate Programme at The Hong Kong Polytechnic University to obtain

his Master’s degree in Corporate Finance.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Lam Shing Tsun, Edmond, aged 58, has been appointed as Non-Executive Director since November

2007. He began his career with Hong Kong and China Gas Company Limited in 1967 and has previously

assumed the positions of deputy general manager and senior salesman of various companies, such as Manulife

(International) Limited. Mr. Lam joined American International Assurance Company (Bermuda) Limited (“AIA”)

from 1982. He is currently a senior district director in AIA and obtained various awards in the past few years.

He has over 25 years’ extensive experience in insurance and management.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lum Pak Sum, aged 47, has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director since September

2005. He holds a master degree in business administration from the University of Warwick, UK and a LLB

(Honor) degree from the University of Wolverhampton, UK. He is currently a fellow member of the Hong Kong

Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, UK. Mr.

Lum has over 19 years’ experience in the financial field, the money market and capital market. Mr. Lum is

currently also the independent non-executive director of Grand Field Group Holdings Limited, Golife Concepts

Holdings Limited, Tiger Tech Holdings Limited and Beauforte Investors Corporation Limited. These companies

are listed on the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Wan Hon Keung, aged 46, has been appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director since April

2007. He has over 20 years of experience in accounting and administration fields. Mr. Wan is a fellow member

of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA) and associate member of Hong Kong Institute

of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA). Mr. Wan was appointed as an independent non-executive director

of Frankie Dominion International Limited (stock code: 704), the shares of which are listed on the main board

of the Stock Exchange, on 16 April 2008. Mr. Wan was also an independent non-executive director of Polyard

Petroleum International Group Limited (stock code: 8011) for the period from 12 April 2006 to 30 November

2007, the shares of which are listed on the GEM board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Sun Tak Keung, aged 44, has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director since April 2007.

He was a manager in Trigold & Co. and had over 11 years of marketing and trading experience in garment

industry and in daily consumable goods in Hong Kong and overseas. Mr. Sun was appointed as an independent

non-executive director of Frankie Dominion International Limited (stock code: 704), the shares of which are

listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, on 16 April 2008. Mr. Sun was also an executive director of

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited (stock code: 8011) for the period from March 2002 to 28

November 2007, the shares of which are listed on the GEM board of the Stock Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chen Jin Ping, aged 45, joined the Group in 2007 as chief engineer. Prior to joining the Group, he was

the deputy general manager of Qinghai Forest Source Mining Industry Developing Company Limited and

project director of the Gansu Hydropower Engineering Office. Mr. Chen has a degree in civil engineering and

construction management, and has over 20 years of experience in construction management of major

infrastructure and water resources projects in the northwestern region of China. He has been awarded several

prizes by the Gansu province for his contributions in the development of innovative construction techniques.

Mr. Qiao Jin Liang, aged 70, joined the Group in 2007 as geological consultant. Prior to joining the Group,

he was the geological consultant to Qinghai Forest Source Mining Industry Developing Company Limited and

chief geological engineer of the Qinghai Department of Geological and Mineral Resource. Mr. Qiao has a

degree in geology and has over 40 years of experience in geological exploration and assessment of mineral

deposits at various locations in northern China.

Mr. Choi Po Shoen, aged 54, joined the Group in 2007 as director of infrastructure. Prior to joining the

Group, he was a director of Kapo Construction Company in charge of construction management of various

major infrastructure projects in Hong Kong. Mr. Choi has a degree in civil engineering and has over 25 years

of experience in construction management, and contract planning and implementation.

Mr. Garry James Ward, aged 63, joined the Group in 2007 as senior superintendent of infrastructure and

mining. Prior to joining the Group, he was involved as resident chief superintendent and construction manager

in various major infrastructure and mining projects in Hong Kong and Australia. He has over 40 years of

experience in construction management and construction site safety.
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Mr. Choi Hok Ya, aged 53, was graduated from the University Toronto, Canada with a Bachelor degree of Art.

He is a managing director of International Carpet Co., Limited (“ICC”) (a subsidiary of the Group) was still a

cottage industry. Mr. Choi has over 21 years of experience in carpet manufacturing and marketing. Under his

leadership, ICC has been awarded exclusive distributorship/agency for the territory by couple of world-renowned

carpet manufacturers from Europe and United States of America. Numerous prestigious projects for the

hospitality and corporate sectors have been won.

Mr. Cheang Fong Wa, aged 55, assistant to general manager. He graduated from 福建省體育學院(Fujian

Provincial Physical Education Academy). Prior to joining the Group in January 1995, he has over three years’

experience in the carpet industry and has engaged in trading, property and construction.

Mr. Qi Qi Yong, aged 33, was graduated from Jiangxi University, PRC. He has more than 8 years accounting

experience. He is an qualified accountant (PRC). He joined our factory in July 2004. He is the chief accountant

of our factory.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has made continued efforts to incorporate key elements of good corporate governance with

emphasis on transparency, independence and accountability. During the financial year ended 31 December

2007, the Company has applied the principles and complied with the requirements of the Code on Corporate

Governance Practices (the “Code on CGP”) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing

Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The current practices will be

reviewed and updated regularly to follow the latest practices in corporate governance.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors by Listed Issuers (the

“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Upon enquiry by the Company, all Directors have

confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year

ended 31 December 2007.

Board of Directors

The board of directors of the Company comprises:

Executive Directors: Mr. Tam Owen (Chairman)

Dr. Yuen Clement Ming Kai (Vice-Chairman)
Mr. Law Fei Shing (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. So Chi Keung

Mr. Fok Po Tin

Mr. Leung Kai Hung

Mr. Yeung Delon

Non-Executive Director: Mr. Lam Shing Tsun, Edmond

Independent Non-Executive: Mr. Lum Pak Sum

Directors Mr. Wan Hon Keung

Mr. Sun Tak Keung

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company are Mr. Tam Owen and Mr. Law Fei Shing

respectively. The Chairman of the board is responsible for the leadership and effective running of the board,

while the Chief Executive Officer is delegated with the authorities to manage the business of the Group in all

aspects effectively. The segregation of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

have been clearly established and set out in writing.



Corporate Governance Report

Xian Yuen Titanium Resources Holdings Limited

12

Non-Executive Directors

The three Independent Non-Executive Directors are persons of high calibre, with academic and professional

qualifications in the fields of accounting, law, banking and business management, and provide checks and

balances so that the interests of all shareholders are adequately and fairly represented. The Company has

received a confirmation of independence from each of its Independent Non-Executive Director, and considers

these Directors to be independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board formulates overall strategy of the Group, monitors its financial performance and maintains effective

oversight over the management. The Board members are fully committed to their roles and have acted in

good faith to maximise the shareholders’ value in the long run, and have aligned the Group’s goals and

directions with the prevailing economic and market conditions. Daily operations and administration are

delegated to the management.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

According to article 108(A) of the Articles of Association of the Company at each annual general meeting

one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three, or a multiple of three, the number

nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be

subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be

eligible for re-election.
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During the year, twenty one full Board meetings were held and the attendance of each of its Directors is set

out as follows:

Number of
Board meetings

attended/eligible
to attend Board

Executive Directors
Tam Owen (Note 1) 11/11

Yuen Clement Ming Kai (Note 2) 4/4

Law Fei Shing 21/21

So Chi Keung 21/21

Fok Po Tin (Note 3) 14/20

Leung Kai Hung (Note 3) 19/20

Yeung Delon (Note 1) 11/11

Pang Man Kin, Nixon (Note 4) 12/12

Tsao Ke Wen, Calvin (Note 5) 16/16

Lam Shu Chung (Note 6) 14/14

Non-Executive Directors
Lam Shing Tsun, Edmond (Note 2) 4/4

Ma Chung Wo, Cameron (Note 7) 18/18

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Lum Pak Sum 21/21

Wan Hon Keung (Note 8) 17/17

Sun Tak Keung (Note 8) 17/17

Poon Chiu (Note 9) 4/4

Li Chak Hung (Note 9) 4/4

Note 1: Appointed on 18 June 2007

Note 2: Appointed on 5 November 2007

Note 3: Appointed on 1 March 2007

Note 4: Resigned on 11 July 2007

Note 5: Resigned on 17 October 2007

Note 6: Resigned on 20 July 2007

Note 7: Resigned on 20 November 2007

Note 8: Appointed on 4 April 2007

Note 9: Resigned on 4 April 2007
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Every board member have full and timely access to board papers and related materials and has unrestricted

access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, and has the liberty to seek external professional

advice if so required. The Company Secretary continuously updates all Directors on the latest development

of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good

corporate governance practice.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee of the Company, formed in September 2005, comprises the Chairman and all

three Independent Non-Executive Directors namely Mr. Lum Pak Sum, Mr. Wan Hon Keung and Mr. Sun Tak

Keung. The Remuneration Committee held seven meetings in 2007 to review the overall pay trend in Hong

Kong of 2007, and to review and recommend adjustments in remuneration of the Executive Directors, the

Chief Executive Officer, the Chairman and the Vice-Chairman of the Company.

The attendance of each of the members of the Remuneration Committee is set out as follows:

Number of meetings
Members of  attended/eligible
Remuneration Committee  to attend meeting

Tam Owen (Chairman) (Note 1) 2/2

Lum Pak Sum 7/7

Wan Hon Keung (Note 2) 5/5

Sun Tak Keung (Note 2) 5/5

Pang Man Kin, Nixon (Note 3) 5/5

Poon Chiu (Note 4) 2/2

Li Chak Hung (Note 4) 2/2

Note 1: Appointed on 18 June 2007

Note 2: Appointed on 4 April 2007

Note 3: Resigned on 11 July 2007

Note 4: Resigned on 4 April 2007

The major roles and functions of the Group’s Remuneration Committee are as follows:

1. To review annually and recommend to the board the overall remuneration policy for the Directors, the

Chief Executive and key senior management officers.

2. To review annually the performance of the Executive Directors, the Chief Executive and key senior

management officers and recommend to the Board specific adjustments in remuneration and/or reward

payments.
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3. To ensure that the level of remuneration for Non-Executive Directors and Independent Non-Executive

Directors are linked to their level of responsibilities undertaken and contribution to the effective

functioning of the board of the respective companies in the Group.

4. To review and approve the compensation payable to executive directors, the Chief Executive and key

senior management officers in connection with any loss or termination of their office or appointment.

5. To review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of directors for

misconduct.

6. To ensure that no director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee of the Company, formed in September 2005, comprises the Chairman and all

three Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Lum Pak Sum, Mr. Wan Hon Keung and Mr. Sun Tak

Keung. The Nomination Committee held six meeting in 2007 to recommend the appointment of Directors and

senior management to the Board.

The attendance of each of the members of the Nomination Committee is set out as follows:

Number of meetings
Members of attended/eligible
Nomination Committee   to attend meeting

Tam Owen (Chairman) (Note 1) 2/2

Lum Pak Sum 6/6

Wan Hon Keung (Note 2) 4/4

Sun Tak Keung (Note 2) 4/4

Pang Man Kin, Nixon (Note 3) 4/4

Poon Chiu (Note 4) 2/2

Li Chak Hung (Note 4) 2/2

Note 1: Appointed on 18 June 2007

Note 2: Appointed on 4 April 2007

Note 3: Resigned on 11 July 2007

Note 4: Resigned on 4 April 2007
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The major roles and functions of the Group’s Nomination Committee are as follows:

1. To assess and recommend the appointment and re-appointment of Directors and Chief Executive

Officer to the Board.

2. To oversee the overall composition of the Board, in terms of the appropriate size and skills, and the

balance of authority among Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors and Independent Non-

Executive Directors through annual review.

3. To assess the independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors.

4. To establish a mechanism for the formal assessment on the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and

the performances of each Director, the Chief Executive and other key senior management officers.

5. To oversee the appointment, management succession planning and performance evaluation of key

senior management officers.

Accountability and Audit

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of accounts of each financial period, which give

a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s results and cash

flow for that period. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007, the Directors

have selected suitable accounting policies and have applied them consistently, adopted appropriate Hong

Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute

of Certified Public Accountants which are pertinent to its operations and relevant to the financial statements,

made judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable, and have prepared the financial statements

on the going concern basis. The Company has received acknowledgements from all Directors of their

responsibility for preparing the financial statements. It is the responsibility of the auditors to form an independent

opinion, based on their audit, on these financial statements and to report their opinion to the members of the

Company, as a body, and for no other purpose. The auditors do not assume responsibilities toward or accept

liability to any other person for the contents of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company is responsible for review of the Group’s accounting principles and

practices internal control procedures and financial reporting matters including the review of the interim and

final results of the Group prior to recommending to the Board for approval. The Audit Committee comprises

the three Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company, namely Mr. Lum Pak Sum, Mr. Wan Hon

Keung and Mr. Sun Tak Keung. In 2007, The Audit Committee held two meetings in 2007 at which it reviewed

the final results for the year ended 2006 and interim accounts for the 6 months ended 30 June 2007, which

were attended by Mr. Lum Pak Sum, Mr. Wan Hon Keung and Mr. Sun Tak Keung.
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The major roles and functions of the Group’s Audit Committee are as follows:

1. To consider the appointment of the external auditors, the audit fees, and any questions of resignation

or dismissal of the external auditors of the Group.

2. To discuss with the external auditors the nature and scope of the audit.

3. To review the interim and annual financial statements before submission to the board of directors.

4. To discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim review and final audit, and any matters

the auditors may wish to discuss.

5. To review the external auditors’ management letters and management’s response.

6. To review the Group’s internal control systems.

7. To consider the major findings of internal investigations and management’s response.

Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year, Grant Thornton, Certified Public Accountants, was appointed as the auditors of the Company

and to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company.

The following table sets forth the type of, and fees for, the principal audit services and non-audit services

provided by Grant Thornton to the Group for the year ended 31st December 2007:

Services rendered
Fees paid/payable

HK$’000

Audit services 800

Non-audit services i.e. consultancy 680

1,480

Management of Risks

The respective boards of directors of the subsidiaries are responsible for the oversight of risks and approval

of risk management policies. The Internal Audit of the Group performs regular audits to ensure compliance

with the policies and reports directly to the Audit Committee.
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Communications with Shareholders and Investors

The Board recognises the importance of good communications with all shareholders. Extensive information

on the Company’s activities is provided in the annual and interim reports, which are sent to shareholders. The

Company’s annual general meeting is a valuable forum for the Board to communicate directly with the

shareholders. The Chairman of the Board as well as Chairmen of the Nomination and Remuneration

Committees are prepared to answer shareholders’ questions. Details of major transactions undertaken by the

Group are also disclosed on a timely manner to shareholders through press announcements to facilitate

shareholders’ understanding of the Group’s activities.

Directors’ Responsibility for The Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial statements for each financial period

with a view to ensuring such financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group

and of the results and cash flow for that period. The Group’s financial statements are prepared in accordance

with all relevant statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors are responsible

for ensuring that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently; and that judgments

and estimates made are prudent and reasonable.

Internal Control

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal controls and for reviewing its effectiveness. The

management of the Company has established a set of comprehensive policies, standards and procedures in

areas of operational, financial and risk controls for safeguarding assets against unauthorized use or disposition;

for maintaining proper accounting records; and for ensuring the reliability of financial information to achieve a

satisfactory level of assurance against the likelihood of the occurrence of fraud and errors. During the year,

the Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control of the Company and

its principal subsidiaries with no material issues noted.
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The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements of Xian Yuen Titanium Resources

Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year

ended 31 December 2007.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities of the Group

include manufacturing and trading of carpets, exploration of mine and trading of goods.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2007 and the state of affairs of the Company and the

Group at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 32 to 114. The Directors do not recommend

the payment of any dividend in respect of the year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the published consolidated results of the Group for the years ended 31 December

2003, 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007, and the assets, liabilities and minority interests of the Group as at each of

the year end date, prepared on the basis set out in the note below.
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RESULTS

Year ended 31 December

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TURNOVER 55,647 26,523 40,982 19,560 127,338

OPERATING LOSS (75,326) (46,008) (89,444) (74,503) (43,576)

Finance costs (3,235) (149) (1,686) (3,290) (2,168)

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX (78,561) (46,157) (91,130) (77,793) (45,744)

INCOME TAX — — — 84 (3,500)

LOSS FOR THE YEAR (78,561) (46,157) (91,130) (77,709) (49,244)

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

EQUITY HOLDERS OF

THE COMPANY (79,129) (46,167) (91,136) (77,486) (31,853)

MINORITY INTERESTS 568 10 6 (223) (17,391)

(78,561) (46,157) (91,130) (77,709) (49,244)
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ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND MINORITY INTERESTS

At 31 December

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 702,176 82,614 83,403 118,406 161,226

CURRENT ASSETS 168,012 17,903 27,199 57,089 59,664

TOTAL ASSETS 870,188 100,517 110,602 175,495 220,890

CURRENT LIABILITIES 68,157 36,558 22,050 77,298 76,048

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 177,403 1,158 2,660 18,128 139

TOTAL LIABILITIES 245,560 37,716 24,710 95,426 76,187

NET ASSETS 624,628 62,801 85,892 80,069 144,703

MINORITY INTERESTS 33,581 (217) (227) (233) 317

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company and the Group during the year

are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital during the year together with the reasons therefore, are set out

in note 32 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association or the laws of the

Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the

Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed

securities during the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in note 33 to

the financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account of the Company of

approximately HK$560 million as at 31 December 2007, is distributable to the shareholders of the Company

provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company

will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. The share premium

account may also be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 47% of the

Group’s total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to approximately

52%.

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 63% of the total purchases for

the year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately 40%.

None of the directors of the Company, any of their associates or shareholders (which, to the best knowledge

of the directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital), had any beneficial interests in the

Group’s five largest customers and/or suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tam Owen (Chairman, appointed on 18 June 2007)
Dr. Yuen Clement Ming Kai (Vice-Chairman, appointed on 5 November 2007)

Mr. Law Fei Shing (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. So Chi Keung

Mr. Fok Po Tin (Appointed on 1 March 2007)

Mr. Leung Kai Hung (Appointed on 1 March 2007)
Mr. Yeung Delon (Appointed on 18 June 2007)
Mr. Pang Man Kin, Nixon (Resigned on 11 July 2007)

Mr. Tsao Ke Wen, Calvin (Resigned on 17 October 2007)
Mr. Lam Shu Chung (Resigned on 20 July 2007)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Shing Tsun, Edmond (Appointed on 5 November 2007)
Dr. Ma Chung Wo, Cameron (Resigned on 20 November 2007)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lum Pak Sum

Mr. Wan Hon Keung (Appointed on 4 April 2007)
Mr. Sun Tak Keung (Appointed on 4 April 2007)

Mr. Poon Chiu (Resigned on 4 April 2007)
Mr. Li Chak Hung (Resigned on 4 April 2007)

In accordance with article 108(A) of the Company’s Articles of Association, Messrs Law Fei Shing, So Chi

Keung and Lum Pak Sum will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,

offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with article 112 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Dr. Yuen Clement Ming Kai and Mr.

Lam Shing Tsun, Edmond who were appointed as Directors of the Company on 5 November 2007, shall hold

office until the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company following their appointments and, being

eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-Executive Director an annual confirmation of his

independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and the Company considers all the Independent Non-Executive

Directors are independent as defined in the Listing Rules.
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Mr. Lum Pak Sum, an Independent Non-Executive Director, is currently appointed with no specific length or

proposed length of service with the Company in respect of the appointment and no specific terms of service

have been agreed.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the senior management of the Group are set out on

pages 7 to 10 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

On 5 November 2007, Mr. Law Fei Shing entered into a service contract with the Company, under which the

Company appointed Mr. Law Fei Shing and Mr. Law Fei Shing agreed to act as the chief executive officer, an

executive director, the company secretary, the authorized representative and the qualified accountant of the

Company for a term of 3 years.

Save as disclosed above, no director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has

a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without

payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the annual report, no director had a significant beneficial interest, either

directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or any

of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the

business of the Company were entered into or were in existence during the year.

PENSION SCHEME ARRANGEMENT

Particulars of the pension scheme arrangements are set out in note 3(s)(i) to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2007, the interests and short positions of the directors and chief executive of the Company

in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the

meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to

be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of

Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

of Listed Companies (“Model Code”) were as follows:

Long Positions in Ordinary Shares of the Company

Approximate
Nature of Number of percentage of

Name of Director interests shares held shareholding

Mr. Law Fei Shing (Note) Personal 15,450,000 1.14%

Note: Mr. Law Fei Shing entered into an agreement with Ms. Leung Lai Ching Margaret on 5 November 2007

pursuant to which Ms. Leung Lai Ching Margaret has agreed to transfer to Mr. Law Fei Shing an aggregate

of 15,450,000 shares as the consideration for Mr. Law Fei Shing to enter into a service contract with the

Company. The above shares will be transferred to Mr. Law Fei Shing on 5 November 2008, 5 November

2009 and 5 November 2010 proportionally. For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated

5 November 2007.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2007, none of the directors and chief executive of the Company

had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any

associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be

kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant

to the Model Code; and none of the directors or the spouses, or children under the age of 18, had any right to

subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised any such right during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures

of the Company granted to any director or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were

any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement

to enable the directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

The register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO recorded that, as at 31 December

2007, the following persons had interests of 5% or more in the shares (as defined in the SFO) of the Company

set opposite its respective name:

Approximate
Number of percentage of

Name of substantial shareholders shares held shareholding

Ms. Leung Lai Ching, Margaret (Note 1) 1,215,900,000 89.49%

L & L Holdings Limited (Note 2) 120,000,000 8.83%

Mr. Tsao Ke Wen, Calvin (Note 2) 120,000,000 8.83%

Notes:

1. As at 31 December 2007, Ms. Leung Lai Ching, Margaret held 261,900,000 shares and convertible bonds in

respect of 954,000,000 underlying shares.

2. L & L Holdings Limited is an investment holding company incorporated in the Republic of the Marshall

Islands, the entire issued share capital of which is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Tsao Ke Wen,

Calvin who was resigned as Director on 17 October 2007.

All the interests stated above represent long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company. As at

31 December 2007, no short positions were recorded in the register maintained by the Company under

section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and

rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants

of the Scheme include the Company’s directors, independent non-executive directors, other employees of

the Group, suppliers of goods or services to the Group, customers of the Group, any person or entity that

provides research, development or other technological support to the Group and any minority shareholder in

the Company’s subsidiaries. The Scheme was adopted on 6 June 2002 and, unless otherwise cancelled or

amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme is

an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.
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Pursuant to the extraordinary general meeting passed on 10 March 2006, the general scheme limit of the

Company’s share option scheme was reset to 52,520,000 shares, representing 10% of the Company’s issued

share capital on the date of meeting, with the passing of ordinary resolution, which allowing the Company to

grant further options carrying the rights to subscribe for a maximum of 52,520,000 shares. As at 1 January

2007, the Company had 25,820,000 share options (the “remaining share options”) outstanding under the

Scheme. During the year , the remaining share options were exercised and as a result, the Company issued

25,820,000 shares.

Furthermore, pursuant to the extraordinary general meeting passed on 31 October 2007, the general scheme

limit of the Company’s share option scheme has been reset to 95,272,000 shares, representing 10% of the

Company’s issued share capital on the date of meeting, with the passing of ordinary resolution, which allowing

the Company to grant further options carrying the rights to subscribe for a maximum of 95,272,000 shares.

As at the dated of this annual report, no share option has been granted pursuant to the Scheme.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme

within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further

grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of

their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors, in addition,

any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the

Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time

or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in excess of

HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general

meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer, upon payment

of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted

is determinable by the directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a date which is

not later than 10 years from the date of the offer of the share options or the expiry date of the Scheme, if

earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the directors, but may not be less than the higher

of:

(i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer of the share options;

(ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately

preceding the date of the offer; and

(iii) the nominal value of the shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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Details of the movement of share options under the Share Option Scheme during the year are as follows:

Closing price

Number of Number of immediately

share options share options before the date

outstanding as exercised Balance as on which

at 1 January Exercise price during at 31 December the options

Participants Date of grant 2007 per share Exercise period the year 2007 were granted

(‘000) HK$ (‘000) (‘000)

Directors

Mr. Pang Man Kin, Nixon 7 March 2006 5,000 0.350 10 March 2006 to 9 March 2011 5,000 — 0.350

Mr. Tsao Ke Wen, Calvin 7 March 2006 500 0.350 10 March 2006 to 9 March 2011 500 — 0.350

Mr. Law Fei Shing 7 March 2006 3,000 0.350 10 March 2006 to 9 March 2011 3,000 — 0.350

Dr. Ma Chung Wo, Cameron 7 March 2006 500 0.350 10 March 2006 to 9 March 2011 500 — 0.350

Directors of subsidiaries

In aggregate 7 March 2006 1,500 0.350 10 March 2006 to 9 March 2011 1,500 — 0.350

27 November 2006 8,720 0.540 27 November 2006 to 9 March 2011 8,720 — 0.540

Other employees

In aggregate 7 March 2006 400 0.350 10 March 2006 to 9 March 2011 400 — 0.350

2 May 2006 3,200 0.365 2 May 2006 to 9 March 2011 3,200 — 0.365

Third parties

2 May 2006 3,000 0.365 2 May 2006 to 9 March 2011 3,000 — 0.365

Total 25,820 25,820 —

All of above share options can be exercised immediately upon acceptance of the offer by the grantee and

there were no vesting conditions/period.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the connected transactions that are required to be disclosed for the year are set out in note 38 to

the financial statements. Save as disclosed therein, there were no transactions required to be disclosed as

connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities

on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

The Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company are of the opinion that the terms of the above

transactions are fair and reasonable so far as the shareholders of the Company are concerned; and that the

transactions have been entered into by the Group in its ordinary and usual course of business and were

carried out in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing such transactions.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year and up to date of this annual report, no directors of the Company are considered to have an

interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of

the Group, as defined by the Listing Rules, other than those businesses of which the directors of the Company

have been appointed as directors to represent the interests of the Company and/or the Group.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Details of the significant post balance sheet events of the Group are set out in note 43 to the financial

statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed with management the accounting principles and practices

adopted by the Group, and discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters including a review of

the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2007. The Audit Committee

comprises the three independent non-executive directors of the Company. During the year, two regular meetings

of the audit committee have been held.

AUDITORS

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007 have been audited by Grant Thornton, Certified

Public Accountants, who retire and being eligible offer themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

LAW FEI SHING
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 25 April 2008
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To the members of Xian Yuen Titanium Resources Holdings Limited 森源鈦礦控股有限公司

(Formerly known as Aurora Global Investment Holdings Limited 旭日環球投資控股有限公司)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Xian Yuen Titanium Resources Holdings Limited

(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) set out on pages 32 to 114, which comprise

the consolidated and Company balance sheets as at 31 December 2007, and the consolidated income

statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the

year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these

financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong

Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to

the preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and

making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit and to report our

opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept

liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong

Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements

and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are

free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment

of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making

those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true

Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd
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and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal

control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation

of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the

Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2007 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then

ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in

accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Grant Thornton
Certified Public Accountants

13th Floor, Gloucester Tower

The Landmark

15 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong

25 April 2008
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2007 2006

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 5 55,647 26,523

Cost of sales (53,146) (29,240)

Gross profit/(loss) 2,501 (2,717)

Other income 5 4,232 7,476

Selling and distribution expenses (2,429) (1,865)

Administrative expenses (49,570) (38,299)

Deficits on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 15(a) (26,976) —

Other operating expenses (3,084) (10,603)

Operating loss (75,326) (46,008)

Finance costs 7 (3,235) (149)

Loss before income tax 8 (78,561) (46,157)

Income tax expense 9 — —

Loss for the year (78,561) (46,157)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 11 (79,129) (46,167)

Minority interests 568 10

Loss for the year (78,561) (46,157)

Loss per share for loss attributable to the equity
holders of the Company during the year 12

— Basic (HK cents 9.4) (HK cents 8.7)

— Diluted N/A N/A
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2007 2006
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15(a) 49,129 73,952
Prepaid lease payments 16 13,926 4,912
Deposits 37(b),(c) — 3,750
Goodwill 18 611,485 —
Exploration and evaluation assets 19 27,636 —

702,176 82,614

Current assets
Inventories 20 4,154 4,033
Trade and bills receivables 21 17,219 4,504
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 22 95,914 8,590
Cash at banks and in hand 23(a) 50,725 776

168,012 17,903

Current liabilities
Trade payables 24 19,704 9,723
Deposits received, other payables and accruals 25 43,022 25,611
Amounts due to directors 26 — 1,143
Finance lease payables 27 91 76
Bank and other borrowings 28 5,340 5

68,157 36,558

Net current assets/(liabilities) 99,855 (18,655)

Total assets less current liabilities 802,031 63,959

Non-current liabilities
Finance lease payables 27 130 234
Amounts due to minority shareholders 29 37,602 924
Convertible bonds 30 139,671 —

177,403 1,158

Net assets 624,628 62,801
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2007 2006

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

EQUITY

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company
Share capital 32 13,587 5,519

Reserves 33(a) 577,460 57,499

591,047 63,018

Minority interests 33,581 (217)

Total equity 624,628 62,801

Tam Owen Law Fei Shing
Director Director
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2007 2006
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15(b) 157 261
Interests in subsidiaries 17 661,395 61,186
Deposits 37(b),(c) — 3,750

661,552 65,197

Current assets
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 22 346 48
Cash at banks and in hand 23(b) 5,688 9

6,034 57

Current liabilities
Deposits received, other payables and accruals 25 6,891 2,167
Amount due to a director 26 — 100

6,891 2,267

Net current liabilities (857) (2,210)

Total assets less current liabilities 660,695 62,987

Non-current liabilities
Convertible bonds 30 139,671 —

Net assets 521,024 62,987

EQUITY

Share capital 32 13,587 5,519
Reserves 33(b) 507,437 57,468

Total equity 521,024 62,987

Tam Owen Law Fei Shing
Director Director
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Minority Total
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company interests equity

Convertible
Assets  bond Share

Share Share Capital revaluation Exchange equity option Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2006 5,252 85,981 137,610 9,735 100 — — (152,559) 86,119 (227) 85,892

Currency translation — — — — 2,833 — — — 2,833 — 2,833
Disposals of property,

plant and equipment — — — (9) — — — — (9) — (9)

Net income/(expense)
recognised directly in equity — — — (9) 2,833 — — — 2,824 — 2,824

Net loss for the year — — — — — — — (46,167) (46,167) 10 (46,157)

Total recognised income and
expense for the year — — — (9) 2,833 — — (46,167) (43,343) 10 (43,333)

Share options granted (note 34(a)) — — — — — — 11,190 — 11,190 — 11,190
Share options cancelled — — — — — — (413) — (413) — (413)
Exercise of share options and

issue of shares (note 32(g)) 267 14,065 — — — — (4,867) — 9,465 — 9,465

At 31 December 2006 and
1 January 2007 5,519 100,046 137,610 9,726 2,933 — 5,910 (198,726) 63,018 (217) 62,801

Currency translation — — — — 7,091 — — — 7,091 — 7,091
Reversal of assets

revaluation reserve (note 15(a)) — — — (9,726) — — — — (9,726) — (9,726)

Net income/(expense) recognised
directly in equity — — — (9,726) 7,091 — — — (2,635) — (2,635)

Net loss for the year — — — — — — — (79,129) (79,129) 568 (78,561)

Total recognised income and
expense for the year — — — (9,726) 7,091 — — (79,129) (81,764) 568 (81,196)

Acquisition of subsidiaries
(note 39(a), (c)) — — — — — — — — — 33,230 33,230

Issue of shares 6,450 363,696 — — — — — — 370,146 — 370,146
Issue of convertible bonds (note 30) — — — — — 189,421 — — 189,421 — 189,421
Issue of shares on conversion of

convertible bonds (note 32(f)) 1,360 80,240 — — — (42,160) — — 39,440 — 39,440
Exercise of share options and

issue of shares (note 32(g)) 258 16,438 — — — — (5,910) — 10,786 — 10,786

At 31 December 2007 13,587 560,420 137,610 — 10,024 147,261 — (277,855) 591,047 33,581 624,628



Annual Report 2007

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2007

37

2007 2006

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before income tax (78,561) (46,157)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 8,401 7,447

Write-down of inventories 458 —

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 299 112

Bad debts written off — 65

Impairment of goodwill 1,081 —

Provision for impairment loss of trade and

other receivables 1,488 314

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 40 (281) —

Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment 490 2

Deficits on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 26,976 —

Interest income (2,745) (85)

Interest expenses 3,235 149

Share-based compensation — 10,777

Operating loss before working capital changes (39,159) (27,376)

(Increase)/Decrease in inventories (335) 1,680

(Increase)/Decrease in trade and bills receivables (11,121) 843

Increase in prepayments, deposits and other receivables (71,077) (1,870)

Increase in trade payables 7,480 516

Increase in deposit received, other payables and accruals 13,492 14,911

(Decrease)/Increase in amounts due to directors (1,143) 1,143

Increase/(Decrease) in amounts due

to minority shareholders 39,869 (1,432)

Cash used in operations (61,994) (11,585)

Interest paid (170) (149)

Hong Kong profits tax paid — —

Net cash used in operating activities (62,164) (11,734)
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2007 2006
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flow from investing activities
Deposits paid — (2,750)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 37(b) (3,176) (943)
Payments to acquire exploration and evaluation assets (8,572) —
Net cash outflow arising from disposal of a subsidiary 40 (3) —
Proceeds from disposals of property,

plant and equipment 15 5
Purchases of subsidiaries (net of cash and

cash equivalent acquired) 37(c), 39 (82,374) —
Interest received 2,745 85

Net cash used in investing activities (91,365) (3,603)

Cash flow from financing activities
New other borrowings 5,340 —
Proceeds from issue of shares upon placement 187,446 —
Proceeds from issue of shares upon exercise

of share options 32(g) 10,786 9,465
Repayments of trust receipt loans — (2,257)
Capital element of finance lease payments (115) (70)
Decrease in pledged time deposits — 2,031

Net cash generated from financing activities 203,457 9,169

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents 49,928 (6,168)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 771 6,931
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes 26 8

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 23(a) 50,725 771
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Xian Yuen Titanium Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability incorporated and

domiciled in Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is P.O. Box 2681, Century Yard,

Cricket Squares, Hutchins Drive, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands, British West Indies and

its principal place of business is Suites 5303-4, 53rd floor, Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai,

Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the

“Stock Exchange”).

During the year, the principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the

“Group”) include:

— Manufacturing of carpets

— Trading of carpets

— Exploration of mine

— Trading of goods

On 5 November 2007, the Group acquired 51% equity interest in Kanson Development Limited

(“Kanson”) and its subsidiaries, Hong Kong Forest Source Mining Industry Holding Company Limited

(“HKFSMI”), Beijing Forest Source Mining Industry Developing Company Limited (“BFSMI”), Qinghai

Forest Source Mining Industry Developing Company Limited (“QFSMI”), through a wholly-owned

subsidiary, namely Smooth Way International Limited (“Smooth Way”). Kanson and its subsidiaries are

engaged in the exploration of mine in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The consideration of

the acquisition was satisfied by cash payment of HK$100,000,000, issue of shares of HK$175,500,000

and issue of convertible bonds of HK$365,000,000. Details of this acquisition has been set out in the

Company’s circular dated 15 October 2007.

Pursuant to a special resolution passed on 1 February 2008 at an extraordinary general meeting, the

Company’s name was changed from Aurora Global Investment Holdings Limited to Xian Yuen Titanium

Resources Holdings Limited. With effect from 11 March 2008, the Company also adopted a new Chinese

name “森源鈦礦控股有限公司” to replace “旭日環球投資控股有限公司” for identification purpose.
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 32 to 114 have been prepared in accordance with

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) which collective term includes all applicable

individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”) and

Interpretations (“Int”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”).

The consolidated financial statements also include the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

(the “Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”), which is also the

functional currency of the Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$’000")

unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007 were approved for issue

by the board of directors on 25 April 2008.

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs

From 1 January 2007, the Group has adopted all the new and amended HKFRSs which are first

effective on 1 January 2007 and relevant to the Group. The adoption of these new and amended

HKFRSs did not result in significant changes in the Group’s accounting policies but gave rise to additional

disclosures. The specific transitional provisions contained in some of these new or amended HKFRSs

have been considered.

In accordance with the amendment HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements — Capital Disclosures,

the Group now reports on its capital management objectives, policies and procedures in each annual

financial report. The new disclosures that become necessary due to this change in HKAS 1 are detailed

in note 42.
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures is mandatory for reporting periods beginning on 1 January

2007 or later. The new standard replaces and amends disclosure requirements previously set out in

HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and Disclosures and has been adopted by the Group in

its financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007. All disclosures relating to financial

instruments including all comparative information have been updated to reflect the new requirements.

In particular, the Group’s financial statements now feature:

— a sensitivity analysis, to explain the Group’s market risk exposure in regards to its financial

instruments, and

— a maturity analysis that shows the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities,

each as at the balance sheet date. These new disclosures are set out in note 41. The first-time application

of HKFRS 7, however, has not resulted in any prior-period adjustments on cash-flows, net income or

balance sheet line items.

The Group has not early adopted the following HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective.

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements1

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs1

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements2

HKFRS 2 (Amended) Share-based Payment — Amendments Relating to Vesting Conditions

and Cancellations1

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations2

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments1

HK(IFRIC) -Int 11 HKFRS 2: Group and Treasury Share Transactions3

HK(IFRIC) -Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements4

HK(IFRIC) -Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes5

HK(IFRIC) -Int 14 HKAS 19: The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding

Requirements and their Interaction5
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs (Continued)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 March 2007
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008

The directors of the Company are currently assessing the impact of the other new standards and

interpretations but are not yet in a position to state whether they would have material impact on the

Group’s financial statements.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial

statements are summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the

years presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost convention except for the

revaluation of property, plant and equipment and certain financial assets and liabilities which

are stated at fair values. The measurement bases are fully described in the accounting policies

below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are used in preparation of the

financial statements. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge

and judgement of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those

estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where

assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 4.

(b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and

its subsidiaries made up to 31 December each year.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power

to control the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from their activities. The

existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are

considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully

consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are excluded from

consolidation from the date that control ceases.

Business combinations (other than for combining entities under common control) are accounted

for by applying the purchase method. This involves the revaluation at fair value of all identifiable

assets and liabilities, including contingent liabilities of the subsidiary, at the acquisition date,

regardless of whether or not they were recorded in the financial statements of the subsidiary

prior to acquisition. On initial recognition, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary are included

in the consolidated balance sheet at their fair values, which are also used as the bases for

subsequent measurement in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.

Inter-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group

companies are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses

are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset

transferred.

In the Company’s balance sheet, subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment. The results of

the subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and

receivable at the balance sheet date.

Minority interest represents the portion of the profit or loss and net assets of a subsidiary

attributable to equity interests that are not owned by the Group and are not the Group’s financial

liabilities.

Minority interests are presented in the consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately

from the equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company. Profit or loss attributable to the

minority interests are presented separately in the consolidated income statement as an allocation

of the Group’s results. Where losses applicable to the minority exceeds the minority interests in

the subsidiary’s equity, the excess and further losses applicable to the minority are allocated

against the minority interest to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to

make an additional investment to cover the losses. Otherwise, the losses are charged against

the Group’s interests. If the subsidiary subsequently reports profits, such profits are allocated to

the minority interest only after the minority’s share of losses previously absorbed by the Group

has been recovered.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions

are translated into the functional currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates

prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the

balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such

transactions and from the balance sheet date retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currencies at year-end exchange rates are recognised in the income

statement.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are

retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined and are

reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of

historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial statements of foreign operations,

originally presented in a currency different from the Group’s presentation currency, have been

converted into HK$. Assets and liabilities have been translated into HK$ at the closing rates at

the balance sheet date. Income and expenses have been converted into HK$ at the average

rates over the reporting period provided that the exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly.

Any differences arising from this procedure have been dealt with separately in the exchange

reserve in equity. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign

operation have been treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated into

HK$ at the closing rates.

Other exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities

and of borrowings are taken to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is sold, such

exchange differences are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on

sale.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value for the sale of goods and services and the use by others of the

Group’s assets yielding interest, and dividends, net of rebates and discounts. Provided it is

probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable,

can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised as follows:

(i) sale of goods are recognised upon transfer of significant risks and rewards of ownership

to the buyers, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the

degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold. This

is usually taken as the time when the goods are delivered and the customer has accepted

the goods.

(ii) interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest rate

method; and

(iii) rental and sub-leasing rental income are recognised on a time proportion basis over the

lease terms.

(f) Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are expensed as incurred.

(g) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business combination over the Group’s interest

in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. The

cost of the business combination is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of

exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the

Group, plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination or investment.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-

generating units and is tested annually for impairment (see note 3(j)).

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets,

liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of a business combination is recognised

immediately in the income statement.



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2007

Xian Yuen Titanium Resources Holdings Limited

46

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Goodwill (Continued)

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included

in the determination of the amount of gain or loss on disposal.

If the initial accounting for a business combination can be determined only provisionally by the

end of the period in which the combination is effected because either the fair values to be

assigned to the identifiable assets, liabilities or contingent liabilities or the cost of the combination

can be determined only provisionally, the Group shall account for the combination using those

provisional values. The Group shall recognise any adjustments to those provisional values within

twelve months of the acquisition date. The carrying amount of an identifiable asset, liability or

contingent liability that is recognised or adjusted as a result of completing the initial accounting

shall be calculated as if its fair value at the acquisition date had been recognised from that date.

Goodwill shall be adjusted from the acquisition date by an amount equal to the adjustment to

the fair value at the acquisition date of the identifiable asset, liability or contingent liability being

recognised or adjusted. Comparative information presented for the periods before the initial

accounting for the combination is complete shall be presented as if the initial accounting had

been completed from the acquisition date. This includes any additional depreciation, amortisation

or other profit or loss effect recognised as a result of completing the initial accounting.

(h) Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are stated at cost less impairment losses. Exploration and

evaluation assets include topographical and geological survey drilling, exploratory drilling,

sampling and trenching and expenditure incurred for the technical feasibility studies and incurred

to secure further mineralisation in the mine ore. Expenditure incurred prior to obtaining the

exploration and evaluation rights to explore an area is written off as incurred. Once the technical

feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource had been determined and

the project reaches its development phase, exploration and evaluation costs capitalised are

amortised. If exploration project is abandoned during the evaluation stage, the total expenditure

thereon will be written off.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances

suggest that the carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets may exceed its recoverable

amount.

(i) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress (“CIP”) are recognised at

revalued amount, based on their fair value at the date of valuation less any subsequent

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with sufficient

regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which would be

determined using fair values at the balance sheet date. Any accumulated depreciation at the

date of revaluation is restated proportionately with the change in the gross carrying amount of

the asset so that the carrying amount of the asset revaluation equals its revalued amount.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Any revaluation surplus arising on revaluation of property, plant and equipment is credited to the

“assets revaluation reserve” in equity, unless the carrying amount of that asset has previously

suffered a revaluation decrease or impairment loss as described in note 3(j). To the extent that

any decrease has previously been recognised in income statement, a revaluation increase is

credited to income statement with the remaining part of the increase dealt with in the assets

revaluation reserve. A decrease in the net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment

arising from revaluation or impairment testing is charged against the assets revaluation reserve

relating to the asset and any remaining decrease recognised in income statement.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the revalued amounts of the

property, plant and equipment to their estimated residual values over their estimated useful

lives, as follows:

Buildings The shorter of the lease terms and/or 50 years

Plant and machinery 15 years

Leasehold improvements, furniture,

office equipment and motor vehicles 4 to 10 years

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same

basis as owned assets or, where shorter, the terms of the relevant lease.

The assets’ estimated residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,

at each balance sheet date.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as the difference between the

sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the income statement.

Any revaluation surplus remaining in equity is transferred to accumulated losses on disposals of

the revalued assets.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate

asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the

item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs,

such as repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial

period in which they are incurred.

CIP, which mainly represents leasehold improvements on buildings, is stated at cost less

accumulated impairment losses. Cost comprises direct costs incurred during the periods of

construction, installation and testing. No depreciation is provided on CIP. CIP is reclassified to

the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j) Impairment testing of assets

Goodwill, property, plant and equipment, prepaid lease payments, exploration and evaluation

assets and interests in subsidiaries are subject to impairment testing.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication

that they are impaired. All other assets are tested for impairment whenever there are indications

that the asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the amount by which the asset’s

carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued

amount under the Group’s accounting policy, in which case the impairment loss is treated as

revaluation reserve decrease according to that policy (see note 3(i)). The recoverable amount is

the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell, and value in use. In

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value

using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time value of money

and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does not generate cash inflows

largely independent from those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined from

the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating

unit). At a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested as

cash-generating unit level. Goodwill in particular is allocated to those cash-generating units that

are expected to benefit from synergies of the related business combination and represent the

lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which goodwill has been allocated,

are credited initially to the carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged

pro rata to the other assets in the cash-generating unit, except that the carrying value of an

asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value less cost to sell, or value in use, if

determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. In respect of other assets,

an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to

determine the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount

does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or

amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j) Impairment testing of assets (Continued)

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare an interim financial report in compliance

with HKAS 34 — Interim Financial Reporting, in respect of the first six months of the financial

year. At the end of the interim period, the Group applies the same impairment testing, recognition

and reversal criteria as it would at the end of the financial year.

Impairment loss recognised in an interim period in respect of goodwill is not reversed in a

subsequent period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recognised

had the impairment been assessed only at the end of the financial year to which the interim

period relates.

(k) Leases

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, is or contains a lease if

the Group determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for

an agreed period of time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination

is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether

the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

(i) Assets acquired under a finance lease

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance leases, the amounts

representing the fair value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the minimum

lease payments, of such assets is included in property, plant and equipment and the

corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges, are recorded as finance lease payables.

Subsequent accounting for assets held under finance lease agreement corresponds to

those applied to comparable acquired assets. The corresponding finance lease liability is

reduced by lease payments less finance charges, which are expensed to finance costs.

Finance charges implicit in the lease payments are charged to profit or loss over the

period of the leases so as to produce an approximately constant periodic rate of charge

on the remaining balance of the obligations for each accounting period. Contingent rentals

are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Leases (Continued)

(ii) Operating lease charges as the lessee

(1) Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership

to the Group are classified as operating lease. Where the Group has the use of

assets held under operating leases, payments made under the leases are charged

to the income statement on a straight-line method over the lease terms except

where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be

derived from the leased assets. Lease incentives received are recognised in the

income statement as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made.

Contingent rentals are charged to the income statement in the accounting period

which they are incurred.

(2) Prepaid lease payments are up-front payments to acquire the long term interests

in usage of land. The payments are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation

and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated on the straight-line

method over the lease term.

(iii) Assets leased out under operating leases as the lessor

Assets leased out under operating leases are measured and presented according to the

nature of the assets. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating

lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense

over the lease term on the same basis as the rental income.

Rental income receivable from operating leases is recognised in the income statement

on a straight-line method over the periods covered by the lease term, except where an

alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the

use of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised in the income statement

as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable. Contingent rentals

are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are earned.

(l) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the

first-in, first-out method, and in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises

direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value

is the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business less any applicable selling

expenses.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets include trade and bills receivables, other receivables and cash and

cash equivalents.

Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition depending

on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired and where allowed and appropriate,

re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date.

All financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the

contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets

are recognised on trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the

asset. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus directly

attributable transaction costs.

Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights to receive cash flows from the

investments expire or are transferred and substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership

have been transferred. At each balance sheet date, financial assets are reviewed to assess

whether there is objective evidence of impairment. If any such evidence exists, impairment loss

is determined and recognised based on the classification of the financial asset.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments

that are not quoted in an active market. These are subsequently measured at amortised cost

using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment losses. Amortised cost is calculated

taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral

part of the effective interest rate and transaction cost.

Impairment of financial assets

At each balance sheet date, loans and receivables are reviewed to determine whether there is

any objective evidence of impairment. A provision for impairment loss is established when there

is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the

original terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that

the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments

(more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables has been incurred,

the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and

the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not

been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective

interest rate computed at initial recognition). The amount of the loss is recognised in the income

statement of the period in which the impairment occurs.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

If, in subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be

related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously

recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that it does not result in a carrying amount

of the financial asset exceeding what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment

not been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. The amount of the reversal is

recognised in the income statement of the period in which the reversal occurs.

(n) Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal

authorities relating to the current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the balance sheet

date. They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods

to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or

liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in the income statement.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance

sheet date between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements

and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable

temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,

tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other unused tax credits, to the extent that

it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary

differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from

goodwill or from initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities

in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period the liability is settled or the asset realised, provided they are enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized in the income statement, or in equity
if they related to items that are charged or credited directly to equity.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand, demand deposits with banks and
short term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

(p) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is determined using the nominal value of
shares that have been issued. Any transaction costs associated with the issue of shares are
deducted from share premium (net of any related income tax benefit) to the extent they are
incremental costs directly attributable to the equity transaction.

(q) Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables and accruals, amounts
due to directors/minority shareholders, bank and other borrowings, finance lease payables and
convertible bonds.

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument and are derecognised when the obligations specified in the relevant contract
are discharged or cancelled or expire. All interest related charges are recognised as an expense
in financial costs in the income statement.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amount is recognised in the income
statement.

(i) Bank and other borrowings

Bank and other borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs

incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between

the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the

income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate method.

Bank and other borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an

unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the

balance sheet date.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(q) Financial liabilities (Continued)

(ii) Trade payables, other payables and accruals, amounts due to directors/minority

shareholders

These are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost,

using the effective interest rate method.

(iii) Convertible bonds that contain an equity component

Convertible bonds that are convertible to share capital at the option of the holder, where,

on conversion, the number of shares that would be issued and the value of the consideration

that would be received at that time do not vary, are accounted for as compound financial

instruments which contain both liability and equity components.

Convertible bonds issued by the Company that contain both liability and equity components

are classified separately into respective liability and equity components on initial

recognition. On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component is determined

using the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible debts. The difference

between the proceeds of the issue of the convertible bonds and the fair value assigned to

the liability component, representing the call option for conversion of the bonds into equity,

is included in equity as convertible bond equity reserve.

The liability component is subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest

rate method. The equity component will remain in equity until conversion or redemption of

the bonds.

When the bonds are converted, the convertible bond equity reserve and the carrying

value of the liability component at the time of conversion, are transferred to share capital

and share premium as consideration for the shares issued. If the bonds are redeemed,

the convertible bond equity reserve is released directly to accumulated losses.

(iv) Finance lease liabilities

Finance lease liabilities are measured at initial value less the capital element of lease

repayments (see note 3(k)).
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Group are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(s) Retirement benefits costs and short term employee benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined contribution plans.

(i) Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the income statement as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the government in the PRC, the subsidiaries
operating in the PRC have participated in the retirement benefits scheme (the “RB
Scheme”) operated by the respective local municipal governments in the PRC, whereby
these subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of the basic salaries of
their employees to the RB Scheme to fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal
government undertakes to assume the retirement benefits obligations of all existing and
future retired employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the RB Scheme is to pay the ongoing required contributions under the RB
Scheme. Contributions under the RB Scheme are charged to the income statement as
incurred. There are no provisions under the RB Scheme whereby forfeited contributions
may be used to reduce future contributions.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s) Retirement benefits costs and short term employee benefits (Continued)

(ii) Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they are accrued to

employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of

services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

(t) Share-based compensation

(i) The Group operates equity-settled share-based compensation plans for remuneration of

its employees and directors.

All employee services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based compensation

are measured at their fair values. These are indirectly determined by reference to the

share options awarded. Their value is appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact

of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets).

(ii) For other goods or services received by the Group in exchange for the grant of any share-

based compensation, they are directly measured at the fair value of the goods or services

received.

All share-based compensation is ultimately recognised as an expense in income statement/recognised

as an expense in full at the grant date when the share options granted vest immediately, with a

corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve). If vesting periods or other vesting conditions

apply, the expense is recognised over the vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the

number of share options expected to vest. Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions

about the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. Estimates are subsequently

revised, if there is any indication that the number of share options expected to vest differs from

previous estimates. No adjustment to expense recognised in prior periods is made if fewer share

options ultimately are exercised than originally vested.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share

option reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited or are

still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve

will be transferred to accumulated losses.

(u) Segment reporting

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting, the Group has determined that

business segments be presented as the primary reporting format and geographical segments

as the secondary reporting format.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Segment reporting (Continued)

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to

a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to that segment. Segment

revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are determined before intra-group balances and intra-

group transactions are eliminated as part of the combination process, except to the extent that

such intra-group balances and transactions are between group enterprises within a single

segment. Inter-segment pricing is based on similar terms as those available to other external

parties.

Capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire segment assets that are

expected to be used for more than one year. Unallocated item mainly comprise financial and

corporate assets, interest-bearing loans, borrowings, corporate and financing expenses and

minority interests.

In respect of geographical segment reporting, revenue is based on the country in which the

customer is located and total assets and capital expenditure are where the assets are located.

(v) Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(i) the party, directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries,

— controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with the Group;

— has an interest in the Group that gives it significant influence over the Group;

— has joint control over the Group;

(ii) the party is an associate of the Group;

(iii) the party is a joint venture in which the Group is a venturer;

(iv) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or its parent;

(v) the party is a close member of the family or any individual referred to in (i) or (iv);

(vi) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly-controlled or significantly influenced by or

for which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any

individual referred to in (iv) or (v); or

(vii) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the Group, or

of any entity that is a related party of the Group.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other

factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the

circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates

will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within

the next financial year are discussed below:

(a) Depreciation

The Group depreciates its property, plant and equipment on a straight-line method over their

estimated useful lives of 4 to 50 years. The estimated useful lives reflect the directors’ estimate

of the periods that the Group will derive future economic benefits from the use of the Group’s

property, plant and equipment.

(b) Fair value of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, except construction in progress, are stated at fair value based

on director’s estimate and valuation performed by independent professional valuers. In

determining the fair value, the directors and the valuers have used a method of valuation which

involves certain estimates. The directors have exercised their judgement as to the estimates

used, the appropriateness of method of valuation used and that the assumptions used therein

are reflective of current market conditions.

(c) Impairment of receivables

The Group’s management reviews receivables on a regular basis to determine if any provision

for impairment is necessary. The impairment loss on receivables is established when there is

objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the

original terms of receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the

debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments

are considered indicators that the receivable is impaired. Management reassesses the impairment

of receivables at the balance sheet date.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(d) Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets

The carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets is reviewed for impairment when events
and changes in the estimated commercially viable quantities of mineral resources of the underlying
mine indicate that the carrying value of the exploration and evaluation assets may not be
recoverable. The Group considers no fact and circumstance occurred which would suggest that
the carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets may exceed its recoverable amount.

(e) Provision against slow-moving inventories

Provision for slow-moving inventories is made based on the ageing and estimated net realisable
value of inventories. The assessment of the provision amount required involves management
judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome or expectation in future is different from
the original estimate, such differences will impact the carrying value of inventories and provision
charge/write-back in the period in which such estimate has been changed.

(f) Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests on annual basis whether goodwill is impaired in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in note 3(g). This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make
an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

(g) Valuation of convertible bonds

The directors use their judgement in selecting an appropriate valuation technique for the Group’s
convertible bonds which are not quoted in the active market. Valuation techniques commonly
used by market practitioners are applied. The fair value of the liability and equity components
inside the convertible bonds are estimated by an independent professional valuer. The fair value
of these components varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions. Any change
in these variables so adopted may materially affect the estimation of the fair value of these
components.
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5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents net invoiced value of goods sold, after

allowances for returns and trade discounts.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income is as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue
Sale of goods 55,647 26,523

Other income
Interest income from loan receivables 2,745 85

Rental and sub-leasing rental income 989 1,312

Sundry income 217 1,079

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note (a)) 281 —

Write back of deposit received (note (b)) — 5,000

4,232 7,476

Notes:

(a) Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

On 30 May 2007, the Group disposed of its 100% equity interest in a subsidiary, South Hill International

Enterprises Limited (“South Hill”) for a consideration of HK$1. As at the date of the disposal, South

Hill had a net liability of HK$281,000. Accordingly, a gain of HK$281,000 was recognised in the

income statement during the year. Particulars of the disposal transaction are described in note 40.

(b) Write back of deposit received

In May 2006, the Company and GP Capital Limited (“GP Capital”) entered into a subscription

agreement for the placing of the Company’s convertible notes in an aggregate principal amount of

HK$40,000,000 (the “Placing”). In June 2006, the date of closing of the Placing was subsequently

agreed by both parties to extend to not later than 30 June 2006. In return, GP Capital agreed to place

a non-refundable amount of HK$10,000,000 with the Company which upon completion of the Placing

would be used as part of the subscription monies for the convertible notes. An initial deposit of

HK$5,000,000 was received by the Company prior to the expiry of the extended closing date.
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5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Write back of deposit received (Continued)

On 30 June 2006, the Company received two payments totalling HK$35,000,000 from GP Capital for

the purpose of settling the remaining subscription monies. However, these payments were not

honoured.

In September 2006, the Company notified GP Capital of the termination of the Placing. A legal

proceeding was brought by the Company and based on the court order issued on 12 February 2007,

GP Capital was required to honour the outstandings of HK$35,000,000.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, after consulting with their legal advisor, the Placing

had expired and the deposit received of HK$5,000,000 was non-refundable and accordingly this

amount had been credited as income to the income statement for the year ended 31 December

2006.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Primary reporting format – business segments

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and managed separately according to the nature of

their operations and the products they provide. Each of the Group’s business segments represents a

strategic business unit that offers products which are subject to risks and returns that are different

from those of the other business segments. Summary of details of the business segments are as

follows:

(a) the manufacturing of carpets segment represents the manufacturing and sale of carpets;

(b) the trading of carpets segment represents the trading of carpets of other renowned brand names;

(c) the exploration of mine (Commercial operations has not yet been commenced during the year);

and

(d) the trading of goods.

There was no intersegment sale and transfer during the year (2006: Nil).
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Primary reporting format — business segments (Continued)

Manufacturing of Trading of Exploration of Trading of

carpets carpets mine goods Consolidated

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue:

Sales to external customers 11,745 8,825 28,851 17,698 — — 15,051 — 55,647 26,523

Segment results (35,565) (17,618) (2,215) (5,506) (14,273) — (1,567) — (53,620) (23,124)

Unallocated other operating income 2,611 5,059

Other unallocated expense (24,317) (27,943)

Finance costs (3,235) (149)

Loss before income tax (78,561) (46,157)

Income tax expense — —

Loss for the year (78,561) (46,157)

Segment assets 40,881 79,535 7,278 7,098 695,034 — 29,086 — 772,279 86,633

Unallocated assets — — — — — — — — 97,909 13,884

Total assets 40,881 79,535 7,278 7,098 695,034 — 29,086 — 870,188 100,517

Segment liabilities 15,760 18,445 22,556 14,987 147,382 — 13,569 — 199,267 33,432

Unallocated liabilities — — — — — — — — 46,293 4,284

Total liabilities 15,760 18,445 22,556 14,987 147,382 — 13,569 — 245,560 37,716

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 119 112 — — — — 180 — 299 112

Depreciation 6,406 6,152 173 312 144 — 136 — 6,859 6,464

Unallocated depreciation — — — — — — — — 1,542 983

6,406 6,152 173 312 144 — 136 — 8,401 7,447

Capital expenditure

Property, plant and equipment 30 56 24 17 9 — — — 63 73

Unallocated capital expenditure — — — — — — — — 5,113 3,945

30 56 24 17 9 — — — 5,176 4,018

Exploration and evaluation assets — — — — 8,572 — — — 8,572 —
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Primary reporting format — business segments (Continued)

Manufacturing of Trading of Exploration of Trading of

carpets carpets mine goods Consolidated

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non cash expense
Bad debts written off — — — 65 — — — — — 65
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 458 — — — — — — — 458 —
Provision for impairment loss of trade and

other receivables 868 — 620 314 — — — — 1,488 314

Deficits on revaluation of property,

plant and equipment 26,976 — — — — — — — 26,976 —

Impairment loss of goodwill — — — — — — 754 — 754 —

Unallocated impairment loss of goodwill — — — — — — — — 327 —

— — — — — — 754 — 1,081 —

Unallocated gain on disposal of a subsidiary — — — — — — — — 281 —

Secondary reporting format — geographic segments

In determining the Group’s geographical segments, revenues are attributable to the segments based

on the location of customers, and assets are attributed to the segments based on the location of the

assets.

Hong Kong Macau PRC Malaysia USA Japan France Consolidated

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue

Sales to external

customers 12,830 12,471 440 866 20,525 9,386 795 — 6,005 3,800 673 — 14,379 — 55,647 26,523

Segment assets 700,880 20,982 — — 169,308 79,535 — — — — — — — — 870,188 100,517

Capital

expenditure

Property,

plant and

equipment 5,137 3,962 — — 39 56 — — — — — — — — 5,176 4,018

Exploration and

evaluation

assets — — — — 8,572 — — — — — — — — — 8,572 —

5,137 3,962 — — 8,611 56 — — — — — — — — 13,748 4,018
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7. FINANCE COSTS

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on bank and other borrowings due within one year 140 15

Interest on other borrowings due within five years — 111

Finance leases 30 23

Imputed interest on convertible bonds (note 30) 3,065 —

3,235 149

8. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting) the following:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of inventories recognised as expense 43,483 19,878

— including write-down of inventories to net realisable value 458 —

Depreciation (note (a))

— owned assets 8,298 7,371

— leased assets 103 76

8,401 7,447

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 299 112

Operating lease charges on land and buildings 3,474 3,093

Auditors’ remuneration 809 534

Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment** 490 2

Impairment loss of goodwill** 1,081 —

Bad debt written off** — 65

Fair value of options granted to a third party for consultancy

services rendered (note 34(a)) — 1,020

Fair value of options granted to directors and

employees included in staff cost (note 13) — 9,757

Provision for impairment loss of trade and other receivables** 1,488 314

Outgoings in respect of leasing properties 905 1,096

Under-provision of value added tax and the corresponding

penalty arising in previous years** (note 25) — 8,938

Exchange difference, net 320 (4)

Staff cost, including directors’ emoluments (note 13) 19,495 24,243
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8. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX (Continued)

** Included in “Other operating expenses” on the face of the consolidated income statement.

(a) Depreciation expenses of HK$5,779,000 (2006: HK$5,538,000) has been expensed in cost of

inventories sold and HK$2,622,000 (2006: HK$1,909,000 ) in administrative expenses.

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as the Group had no estimated assessable profits arising

in or derived from Hong Kong for both years. PRC foreign enterprise income tax has not been provided

as the PRC subsidiaries incurred a loss for taxation purposes for both years.

Reconciliation between income tax expense and the accounting loss at applicable tax rates:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before income tax (78,561) (46,157)

Tax at the applicable rates to profit in

the tax jurisdictions concerned (19,423) (10,808)

Tax effect of non-taxable income (1,368) (1,406)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 8,535 6,922

Tax effect of unrecognised temporary differences 9,341 331

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 2,915 4,961

Income tax expense — —

10. DIVIDENDS

The board of directors did not recommend any payment of dividends during the year (2006: Nil).
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11. LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

Of the consolidated loss attributable to equity holders of the Company of HK$79,129,000 (2006:

HK$46,167,000), a loss of HK$151,756,000 (2006: HK$40,087,000) has been dealt with in the financial

statements of the Company.

12. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss attributable to the equity holders of the

Company of approximately HK$79,129,000 (2006: HK$46,167,000) and on the weighted average of

ordinary shares of 838,233,260 (2006: 528,332,055) in issue.

No diluted loss per share is presented for the year ended 31 December 2007 as the outstanding

convertible bonds and share options were anti-dilutive. No diluted loss per share was presented for the

year ended 31 December 2006 as outstanding share options where anti-dilutive.

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING DIRECTOR’S EMOLUMENTS)

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Wages, salaries and allowances 19,172 14,186

Share-based compensation — 9,757

Pension costs — defined contribution plans 323 300

19,495 24,243
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14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

Salaries, Contribution to
allowances and retirement

benefits Quarter benefit
Fees in kind expenses scheme Total

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2007
Executive directors
Mr. Pang Man Kin, Nixon

 (“Mr. Pang”) (i) — 1,012 333 7 1,352

Mr. Tsao Ke Wen, Calvin (ii) — 840 315 7 1,162

Mr. Lam Shu Chung (iii) — 332 — 7 339

Mr. Law Fei Shing — 989 — 12 1,001

Mr. So Chi Keung — 125 — 6 131

Mr. Fok Po Tin (iv) — — — — —

Mr. Leung Kai Hung (iv) — 40 — 2 42

Mr. Tam Owen (v) — 682 — 7 689

Mr. Yeung Delon (v) — 129 — 6 135

Dr. Yuen Clement Ming Kai (vi) — 532 — — 532

Non-executive directors
Dr. Ma Chung Wo, Cameron (vii) — — — — —

Mr. Lam Shing Tsun, Edmond (vi) 15 — — — 15

Independent non-executive
directors

Mr. Poon Chiu (viii) 16 — — — 16

Mr. Lum Pak Sum 60 — — — 60

Mr. Li Chak Hung (viii) 18 — — — 18

Mr. Sun Tak Keung (ix) 22 — — — 22

Mr. Wan Hon Keung (ix) 22 — — — 22

153 4,681 648 54 5,536
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14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes

(i) Resigned on 11 July 2007.

(ii) Resigned on 17 October 2007.

(iii) Resigned on 20 July 2007.

(iv) Appointed on 1 March 2007.

(v) Appointed on 18 June 2007.

(vi) Appointed on 5 November 2007.

(vii) Resigned on 20 November 2007.

(viii) Resigned on 4 April 2007.

(ix) Appointed on 4 April 2007.

Salaries,
allowances Contribution

and to retirement
benefits Quarter benefit

Fees in kind* expenses scheme Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2006
Executive directors
Mr. Pang — 2,325 600 12 2,937

Mr. Tsao Ke Wen, Calvin — 1,177 605 12 1,794

Mr. Lam Shu Chung — 1,465 — 12 1,477

Mr. Law Fei Shing — 1,605 — 12 1,617

Mr. So Chi Keung — 1,090 — 11 1,101

Non-executive director
Dr. Ma Chung Wo, Cameron — 86 — — 86

Independent non-executive
directors

Mr. Poon Chiu 60 86 — — 146

Mr. Lum Pak Sum 60 86 — — 146

Mr. Li Chak Hung 66 86 — — 152

186 8,006 1,205 59 9,456

* This includes the share options granted in 2006 attributable to the directors.
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14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

During the year, no share option was granted to the directors of the Company to subscribe for

ordinary shares of the Company (2006: 22,500,000).

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the Company as an

inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office (2006: Nil).

During the year, the Group received written consent from an ex-director of the Company to

waive the remuneration of HK$304,000 (2006: Nil) payable to that ex-director.

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group during the year included

4 directors (2006: 5) and their emoluments are reflected in the above analysis. Details of the

emoluments of the remaining 1 individual (2006: Nil) during the year, which fell within the

emolument band of HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000, are as follows:

2007
HK$’000

Basic salaries, housing benefits, other allowances and benefits in kind 2,200

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the above highest paid individual as

an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office (2006:

Nil).
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(a) Group

Leasehold,
improvements

furniture,
office

equipment
Plant and and motor Construction

Buildings machinery vehicles in progress Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2006
Valuation 22,118 62,931 4,976 — 90,025

Accumulated depreciation (942) (12,752) (1,834) — (15,528)

Net book amount 21,176 50,179 3,142 — 74,497

Year ended 31 December 2006
Opening net book amount 21,176 50,179 3,142 — 74,497

Additions — — 4,018 — 4,018

Disposals — — (16) — (16)

Exchange differences 847 2,035 18 — 2,900

Depreciation (490) (5,538) (1,419) — (7,447)

Closing net book amount 21,533 46,676 5,743 — 73,952

At 31 December 2006
Valuation 23,002 65,141 9,073 — 97,216

Accumulated depreciation (1,469) (18,465) (3,330) — (23,264)

Net book amount 21,533 46,676 5,743 — 73,952
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Group (Continued)

Leasehold,
improvements

furniture,
office

equipment
Plant and and motor Construction

Buildings machinery vehicles in progress Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 December 2007
Opening net book amount 21,533 46,676 5,743 — 73,952

Additions — — 5,176 — 5,176

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 39) — 1,892 2,882 6,784 11,558

Disposals — — (505) — (505)

Disposals of a subsidiary (note 40) — — (373) — (373)

Reversal of asset revaluation reserve — (9,726) — — (9,726)

Deficits on revaluation (3,578) (23,398) — — (26,976)

Exchange differences 1,375 2,979 70 — 4,424

Depreciation (520) (5,814) (2,067) — (8,401)

Closing net book amount 18,810 12,609 10,926 6,784 49,129

At 31 December 2007
Valuation 20,607 29,454 15,922 — 65,983

Cost — — — 6,784 6,784

Accumulated depreciation (1,797) (16,845) (4,996) — (23,638)

Net book amount 18,810 12,609 10,926 6,784 49,129

An independent valuation of certain of the Group’s buildings, plant and machinery was performed

by LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited (“LCH”), an independent firm of chartered surveyors

during the year. Valuation was made on the basis of depreciated replacement cost method for

buildings and plant and machinery. Buildings with carrying value of HK$18,810,000 and plant

and machinery with carrying value of HK$11,824,000 were stated at fair values as determined

by the valuer, resulting in deficits on revaluation of HK$3,578,000 for buildings and of

HK$23,398,000 for plant and machinery. The directors of the Company based on their past

experience are of the view that the carrying value of the remaining property, plant and equipment,

except for CIP which is stated at cost, as at 31 December 2007 approximates their fair values.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Group (Continued)

Had the Group’s property, plant and equipment been measured on a historical cost basis, their

carrying amount would have been as follows:

2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000

Buildings 18,810 21,533
Plant and machinery 12,609 41,813
Leasehold improvements, furniture, office equipment and

motor vehicles 10,926 5,743

Included in property, plant and equipment are amounts of approximately HK$474,000 (2006:

HK$380,000) held under a finance lease and the related accumulated depreciation is

approximately HK$261,000 (2006: HK$82,000).

(b) Company
Leasehold

improvements,
furniture,

office
equipment and
motor vehicles

HK$’000

At 1 January 2006
Valuation 444
Accumulated depreciation (105)

Net book amount 339

Year ended 31 December 2006
Opening net book amount 339
Additions 3
Disposals (8)
Depreciation (73)

Closing net book amount 261

At 31 December 2006
Valuation 438
Accumulated depreciation (177)

Net book amount 261

Year ended 31 December 2007
Opening net book amount 261
Additions —
Disposals (2)
Depreciation (102)

Closing net book amount 157

At 31 December 2007
Valuation 435
Accumulated depreciation (278)

Net book amount 157
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16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS — GROUP

These represent its interests in leasehold land and land use rights in the PRC, held on leases between

10 and 50 years. Changes to the carrying amounts presented in the balance sheet can be summarised

as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Opening net carrying amount 4,912 4,831

Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 39(a)) 9,000 —

Exchange differences 313 193

Amortisation of prepaid operating lease payment (299) (112)

Closing net carrying amount 13,926 4,912

As at 31 December 2007, the Group has not yet obtained the relevant land use rights certificate for the

prepaid lease payments with the carrying amount of approximately HK$8,820,000 (2006: Nil). The

Group’s legal advisors have confirmed that the Group has the rightful and equitable title to use the

leasehold land.

17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES — COMPANY

2007 2006

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Investments

— Unlisted shares, at cost (a) 76,432 76,432

— Arising from share-based compensation (b) 5,754 5,754

82,186 82,186

Due from subsidiaries (c) 864,500 149,183

Due to a subsidiary (c) (8) —

Loan to a subsidiary (d) 9,996 —

956,674 231,369

Provision for impairment losses (295,279) (170,183)

661,395 61,186
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES — COMPANY (Continued)

The movement in the provision for impairment of interest in subsidiaries is as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January (170,183) (139,059)

Additions (125,096) (31,124)

At 31 December (295,279) (170,183)

Notes:

(a) Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2007 are as follows:

Percentage

Place of Paid-up of equity Principal

incorporation/ share/registered attributable to activities and place

Name establishment capital the Company of operation

Directly held

Jackley China Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$100 100% Investment holding

Hong Kong

Aurora International British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 100% Investment holding

Enterprises Limited Hong Kong

(“Aurora International”)

Smooth Way International British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 100% Investment holding

Limited Hong Kong
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES — COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:  (Continued)

(a) Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2007 are as follows:  (Continued)

Percentage

Place of Paid-up of equity Principal

incorporation/ share/registered attributable to activities and place

Name establishment capital the Company of operation

Indirectly held

Hui Zhou Orient Carpet PRC US$4,940,000 100% Manufacture and sale of

Manufacturing Co., Ltd  carpets

(“Hui Zhou Orient Carpet”) PRC

International Carpet Co., Limited* Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2,000,000 51% Trading of carpets

(“International Carpet”) Hong Kong

Orient Finance (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100% Provision of finance

Limited* Hong Kong

Orient Carpet Manufacturing Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100% Investment holding and

(Hong Kong) Limited* trading of carpets

(“Orient Carpet”) Hong Kong

Aurora Logistic Capital Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% Investment holding

Assurance Limited Hong Kong

(“Aurora Logistic Capital”)

Aurora Logistic Finance British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 100% Investment holding

Group Inc (“Aurora Hong Kong

Logistic Finance”)

Aurora Logistic Software Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% Logistic

Development Limited Hong Kong

Wise Mount Management Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% Investment holding

Limited (“Wise Mount”) Hong Kong

Go On Foundate Company Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100% Dormant

Limited (“Go On”) Hong Kong
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES — COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:  (Continued)

(a) Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2007 are as follows:  (Continued)

Percentage

Place of Paid-up of equity Principal

incorporation/ share/registered attributable to activities and place

Name establishment capital the Company of operation

Indirectly held

Wellspark Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% Investment holding

Hong Kong

Hebei Da Sheng Warranty PRC US$7,054,000** 51% Dormant

Company Limited PRC

(“Da Sheng”)

Win Alliance Development Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000 70% Trading of goods

Limited (“Win Alliance”) Hong Kong

唐山勝盟工藝製毯有限公司 PRC US$61,800 70% Manufacture of carpets

 (“唐山勝盟”) PRC

Kanson Development British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$200 51% Investment Holding

Limited Hong Kong

Hong Kong Forest Source Hong Kong Ordinary HK$70,000,000 51% Investment Holding

Mining Industry Hong Kong

Company Limited*

Beijing Forest Source PRC RMB14,760,000*** 51% Mineral dressing and

Mining Industry Developing trading of mineral

Company Limited resources

PRC

Qinghai Forest Source PRC HK$36,300,000 51% Exploration of mine

Mining Industry Developing PRC

Company Limited

626 Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% Dormant

Hong Kong
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES — COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:  (Continued)

(a) Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2007 are as follows:  (Continued)

* Subsidiaries audited by Grant Thornton Hong Kong

** This subsidiary was established in the PRC on 26 September 2006 for an operating period of

30 years with a registered capital of US$12,500,000. As at 31 December 2007, approximately

US$2,305,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$18,000,000) of its registered capital has been

paid up and the Group therefore had an outstanding investment in capital of US$4,070,000

(equivalent to approximately HK$31,746,000) in this subsidiary.

*** This subsidiary was established in the PRC on 13 August 2007 for an operating period of 50

years with a registered capital of RMB15,000,000. As at 31 December 2007, approximately

RMB14,760,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$15,702,000) of its registered capital has

been paid up and the Group therefore had an outstanding investment in capital of RMB240,000

(equivalent to approximately HK$255,000) in this subsidiary.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors,

principally affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of

the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in

particulars of excessive length.

(b) The balance represents the share-based compensation expenses arising from the grant of share

options of the Company to employees of subsidiaries in exchange for their services offered to

these subsidiaries.

(c) Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and are not expected to be

repaid within the next twelve months. These balances are classified as non-current assets

accordingly.

(d) There are unsecured loans provided to its subsidiary, Kanson and are repayable within 24 months

from the drawdown date in November and December 2007. Interest is charged on the outstanding

balance at the rate of HIBOR plus 1% per annum.
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18. GOODWILL — GROUP

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January
Gross carrying amount 71,500 71,500

Accumulated impairment (71,500) (71,500)

Net carrying amount — —

Opening net carrying amount — —

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 39) 612,566 —

Impairment losses (1,081) —

Closing net carrying amount 611,485 —

At 31 December
Gross carrying amount 684,066 71,500

Accumulated impairment (72,581) (71,500)

Net carrying amount 611,485 —

The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2007 represents the excess of the cost of the

investment in Kanson over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of Kanson’s identifiable assets,

liabilities and contingent liabilities at the completion of the acquisition of Kanson made during the year

(note 39(c)). Details of this transaction are set out in the Company’s circular dated 15 October 2007.

As at 31 December 2007, QFSMI, a 51% subsidiary of Kanson, held an exploration license for a mine

located in Inner Mongolia, China.

The carrying amount of goodwill has been tested for impairment and its recoverable amount was

determined based on value-in-use calculations, performed by an independent firm of professional

valuers, LCH, followed by an extrapolation of discounted cash flows, covering a detailed thirteen-year

forecast, as approved and considered suitable for the mining industry by the directors. The key

assumptions adopted include the mine reserve based on a technical assessment report by Watts,

Griffs and McOuat Limited and its expectations for the market development and that the Group is able

to obtain the mining right of the underlying mine from the relevant authorities in PRC in 2008.
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18. GOODWILL — GROUP (Continued)

The discount rate and parameters used are shown as below:

Discount rate 16.4%

Inflation rate 2%

Initial life of the project 13 years

The above goodwill was determined based on initial accounting for the business combination with

Kanson and was determined only provisionally as at 31 December 2007, details of which are set out in

note 39(c).

The Group’s management is not aware of any other probable changes that would necessitate changes

in its key estimates which will result in the carrying amount of goodwill exceeding its recoverable

amount.

The goodwill of approximately HK$1,081,000 arising from the acquisitions of Go On (note 39(b)) and

Win Alliance (note 39(a)) has been fully impaired during the year based on its cashflow projection and

the Company’s expectations and past experience. The related impairment loss of HK$1,081,000 (2006:

Nil) was included under “Other operating expenses” in the income statement.
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19. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS — GROUP

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January — —

Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 39(c)) 19,064 —

Additions 8,572 —

At 31 December 27,636 —

The breakdown of exploration and evaluation assets are as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Exploration license 1,277 —

Technical feasibility studies 3,099 —

Exploratory drilling 18,085 —

Sampling 3,173 —

Construction in progress 2,002 —

Closing net carrying amount 27,636 —

Relevant key metallurgical tests on samples from the mine located in Inner Mongolia, China have been

completed. The test results had been reviewed by an external panel of PRC experts and were considered

to be appropriate and sufficient for use in the feasibility studies of a project for the mine.

20. INVENTORIES — GROUP

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 1,869 1,773

Work in progress 51 —

Finished goods 2,234 2,260

4,154 4,033
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21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES — GROUP

The Group normally allows trading credit terms ranging from 30 to 120 days to established customers.

Each customer has a maximum credit limit. Trade debtors with balances that are aged over 120 days

are required to settle all outstanding balances before any further credit is granted. In view of the

aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified

customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

Ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables, net of provision, as at the balance sheet date, based on

the date of recognition of the sale, is as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

1-90 days 7,871 3,567

91-120 days 5,899 153

121-365 days 3,449 471

Over 1 year 2,677 2,050

19,896 6,241

Less: Provision for impairment of trade receivables (2,677) (1,737)

Trade and bills receivables — net 17,219 4,504

Impairment losses in respect of trade and bills receivables are recorded using an allowance account

unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss

is written off against trade and bills receivables directly.

The movement in the provision for impairment of trade receivables is as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January (1,737) (1,423)

Additions (940) (314)

At 31 December (2,677) (1,737)

At 31 December 2007, trade receivables of the Group amounting to approximately HK$2,677,000

(2006: HK$1,737,000) were individually determined to be impaired. The individually impaired receivables

related to the customers that were in financial difficulties and management assessed only a portion of

the receivables is expected to be recovered. The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances.
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21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES — GROUP (Continued)

Ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables that are not impaired are as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Neither past due nor impaired 9,193 3,567

Past due of less than 120 days but not impaired 5,899 153

Past due of 120 to 365 days but not impaired 2,127 471

Past due of more than 365 days but not impaired — 313

17,219 4,504

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to wide range of customers for whom

there were no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a number of customers that have a good

track record with the Group. Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment

allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in

credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not held any

collateral over these balances.

Included in trade and bills receivables are the following amounts denominated in a currency other than

the functional currency of the entity to which it relates:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

US dollar (“USD”) 11,720 —

Renminbi (“RMB”) 985 638
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22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Prepayments 640 501 51 30

Deposits 5,511 6,240 15 15

Other receivables (Note) 89,763 1,849 280 3

95,914 8,590 346 48

Note:

Included in other receivables of the Group at 31 December 2007 are loan receivables of HK$77,015,000

due from independent third parties. Loan receivables of HK$29,643,000 are unsecured, interest-bearing at

prime rate plus 1% per annum and due within one month when the repayment notice is sent. In addition,

loan receivables of HK$47,372,000 are unsecured, bear annual fixed interest ranging from 8.00% to 11.23%

and due one year from the date of borrowing (i.e. from April 2008 to December 2008). The directors consider

the transactions were entered into at arm’s length terms and the carrying amounts of the loan receivables

approximate to their fair values at the balance sheet date. These loan receivables that were not impaired

related to individuals who had no recent financial difficulty.

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank earns interest at the floating rates based on the daily bank deposits rates.

(a) Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at banks and in hand 50,725 776

Bank overdrafts (note 28) — (5)

Cash and cash equivalents 50,725 771

Included in the cash at banks and in hand of the Group is HK$2,032,000 (2006: HK$344,000) of

bank balances denominated in RMB placed with the banks in the PRC. RMB is not a freely

convertible currency; however, under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and

Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is

permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through the banks authorised to conduct foreign

exchange business in the PRC.
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23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

(b) Company

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at banks and in hand 5,688 9

24. TRADE PAYABLES — GROUP

Ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the balance sheet date, based on the receipts of goods

purchased, is as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

1-90 days 9,017 5,926

91-120 days 5,696 2,603

121-365 days 2,306 967

Over 1 year 2,685 227

19,704 9,723

Included in trade payables are the following amounts denominated in a currency other than the functional

currency of the entity to which it relates:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

USD 11,521 —

RMB 4,315 3,689

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 60-day terms.
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25. DEPOSITS RECEIVED, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Deposits received 6,822 5,429 — —

Other payables and

accruals (Note) 36,200 20,182 6,891 2,167

43,022 25,611 6,891 2,167

Note:

Included in the balance as at 31 December 2006 were installation cost and interest payable to 深圳華興建

設有限公司 (“華興”) in relation to the legal proceedings undertaken by 華興 against Hui Zhou Orient Carpet,

a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company at the Peoples Court of the Hui Yang District, Hui Zhou City,

Guangdong Province. The amounts claimed under the proceedings were HK$1,520,000 and interest payable

of HK$1,288,000, both of which were fully provided in the Group’s financial statements as at 31 December

2006 and settled during the year ended 31 December 2007.

Included in the balance as at 31 December 2007 is a payable of HK$8,793,000 (2006: 8,938,000)  which

represents the unsettled value added tax and the corresponding penalty payable estimated and billed by

the PRC local tax authority during the year ended 31 December 2006. No further penalty was imposed by

the PRC local tax authority during the year.

26. AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS

Amounts due to directors by the Group and the Company were unsecured, interest-free and repayable

on demand. The balances were fully repaid during the year.
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27. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES — GROUP

An analysis of the total future minimum lease payments under a finance lease and their present values

is as follows:

Present value of
Minimum minimum

lease payments lease payments

2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts payable:

Within one year 102 101 91 76

In the second year 102 101 96 76

In the third to fifth years,

inclusive 34 208 34 158

Total minimum finance

lease payments 238 410 221 310

Future finance charges on

finance lease payments (17) (100)

Total net finance lease

payables 221 310

Less: Amounts classified as

current liabilities (91) (76)

Amounts included under

non-current liabilities 130 234

The Group entered into a finance lease on a motor vehicle for a lease period of 5 years. The lease

does not have an option to renew or any contingent rental provisions. Under the lease term, the legal

title of the motor vehicle will be transferred to the Group at nil consideration on expiry of the lease

period.
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28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS — GROUP

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Other loans, unsecured and repayable on demand 5,340 —

Bank overdrafts, unsecured (note 23(a)) — 5

5,340 5

The Group’s other loans bear interest at the fixed rate of 12% per annum and is payable with one-

month notice by the lender.

29. AMOUNTS DUE TO MINORITY SHAREHOLDERS

Amounts due are unsecured, interest free and are not repayable within the next twelve months from

the balance sheet date.

30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS — GROUP AND COMPANY

On 5 November 2007, the Company issued zero coupon convertible bonds (the “Convertible Bonds”)

in the principal amount of HK$365,000,000 as part of the consideration for the acquisition of Kanson.

The Convertible Bonds bear no interest with maturity date on 4 November 2012 (the “Maturity Date”)

and are convertible into shares of the Company at the conversion price of HK$0.60 per share (subject

to the standard adjustment clauses relating to share sub-division, share consolidation, capitalization

issues and rights issues) at any time after the issue date. At Maturity Date, the Company may consider

liaising with the holders of the Convertible Bonds to extend the Maturity Date of the Convertible Bonds

or the Company may repay the Convertible Bonds at any price as to be agreed between the Company

and the holders of the Convertible Bonds.

The fair value of the liability component, included in the Convertible Bonds, was calculated using a

market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond. The residual amount, representing the

value of the equity conversion component, is included in the convertible bond equity reserve in

shareholders’ equity.
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS — GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

The Convertible Bonds recognised in the balance sheet are calculated as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Proceeds of issue 365,467 —

Equity component (189,421) —

Liability component on initial recognition 176,046 —

Exercise of the Convertible Bonds (39,440) —

Imputed interest expense (note 7) 3,065 —

Liability component at 31 December 139,671 —

The fair value of the liability component of the Convertible Bonds at the date of issue amounted to

approximately HK$176 million.

Interest expense on the bonds is calculated using the effective interest rate method by applying interest

rate of 15.70% per annum to the liability component.

During the year, 136,000,000 ordinary shares were issued in aggregate, at the conversion price of

HK$0.60 per share, to the bond holders upon the conversion of the Convertible Bonds. As a result,

there was an increase in the share capital and share premium of HK$1,360,000 (note 32(f)) and

HK$80,240,000 respectively.

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, another 100,000,000 ordinary shares were issued in aggregate

to the bond holders upon the conversion of the Convertible Bonds. As a result, there is a further

increase in the share capital and share premium of HK$1,000,000 and HK$59,000,000 respectively.

This conversion has not yet been reflected in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December

2007.
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31. DEFERRED TAX — GROUP AND COMPANY

At the balance sheet date, unrecognised deferred tax assets are follows:

Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Tax losses 45,188 36,880 — —

Deferred tax assets have not been recongnised in respect of the above tax losses as these were

incurred by the companies that have been loss-making for some time.

The unrecognised tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely except for the losses of HK$36,061,000

(2006: HK$31,735,000) which will expire as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

2007 — 2,397

2008 1,206 1,206

2009 9,667 9,667

2010 6,117 6,117

2011 12,348 12,348

2012 6,723 —

36,061 31,735

At 31 December 2007, there is no significant unrecognised deferred tax liability (2006: Nil).
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32. SHARE CAPITAL

2007 2006

Number of Number of

shares shares

Notes ’000 HK$’000 ’000 HK$’000

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of

HK$0.01 each 20,000,000 200,000 20,000,000 200,000

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 January, ordinary

shares of HK$0.01 each 551,900 5,519 525,200 5,252

Shares issued

on 15 February 2007 (a) 18,000 180 — —

Shares issued

on 16 March 2007 (b) 87,000 870 — —

Shares issued

on 25 June 2007 (c) 135,000 1,350 — —

Shares issued

on 2 August 2007 (d) 135,000 1,350 — —

Share issued

on 5 November 2007 (e) 270,000 2,700 — —

Exercise of convertible

bonds and issue

of shares (f) 136,000 1,360 — —

Exercise of share

options and issue

of shares (g) 25,820 258 26,700 267

At 31 December

ordinary shares

of HK$0.01 each 1,358,720 13,587 551,900 5,519
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32. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a) On 15 February 2007, an aggregate of 18,000,000 new ordinary shares were issued to Ms. Sheng

De Cruz Li to complete the consideration balance of the sale and purchase agreement (to acquire

70% equity interest in Win Alliance) dated 8 December 2006. The directors of the Company considered

HK$0.40 per share is the fair value with reference to the published price of the share on that day.

These issued shares rank pari passu with other shares in issue in all respects.

(b) On 16 March 2007, the Company entered into a placement agreement with Enlighten Securities

Limited (“Enlighten Securities”) as placing agent, pursuant to which an aggregate of 87,000,000 new

ordinary shares were placed by Enlighten Securities on behalf of the Company, on a fully underwritten

basis at the price of HK$0.308 per placing share with six independent investors. Immediately after

the completion of this placing, the Company issued 87,000,000 new ordinary shares at HK$0.308

per share to six independent investors on 16 March 2007. These issued new ordinary shares rank

pari passu with other shares in issue in all respects.

(c) On 25 June 2007, the Company entered into another placement agreement with Enlighten Securities

as placing agent, pursuant to which an aggregate of 135,000,000 new ordinary shares were placed

by Enlighten Securities on behalf of the Company, on a fully underwritten basis at the price of HK$0.50

per placing share with six independent investors. Immediately after the completion of this placing,

the Company issued 135,000,000 new ordinary shares at HK$0.50 per share to six independent

investors on 25 June 2007. These issued new ordinary shares rank pari passu with other shares in

issue in all respects.

(d) On 2 August 2007, the Company entered into a placing agreement with Guotai Junan Securities

(Hong Kong) Limited (“Guotai Junan”) as placing agent, pursuant to which an aggregate of 135,000,000

new ordinary shares were placed by Guotai Junan on behalf of the Company, on a fully underwritten

basis at a price of HK$0.69 per placing share with at least six independent investors. Immediately

after the completion of this placing, the Company issued 135,000,000 new ordinary shares at HK$0.69

per share on 2 August 2007. These issued new ordinary shares rank pari passu with other shares in

issue in all respects.

(e) On 5 November 2007, the Company issued 270,000,000 new ordinary shares to Ms. Leung Lai

Ching Margaret to complete the balance of the conditional share acquisition agreement dated 9 July

2007 to acquire 51% equity interest in Kanson. The directors of the Company considered HK$0.65

per share is the fair value with reference to the published price of the share on that day. These issued

new ordinary shares rank pari passu with other shares in issue in all respects.

(f) On 5 November 2007, the Company issued the Convertible Bonds of HK$375,000,000 at the

conversion price of HK$0.60 per share. During the year, 136,000,000 ordinary shares in aggregate

were issued, at the conversion price of HK$0.60 per shares, to the bond holders upon the conversion

of the Convertible Bonds (note 30). As a result, there was an increase in the share capital and share

premium of HK$1,360,000 and HK$80,240,000 respectively. These issued new ordinary shares rank

pari passu with other shares in issue in all respects.
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32. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(g) During the year, subscription rights attached to the 25,820,000 (2006: 26,700,000) share options

of the Company (note 34(b)) were exercised at subscription prices of HK$0.365, HK$0.35 and

HK$0.54 per share (2006: HK$0.365 and HK$0.35 per share). As a result, the Company allotted,

issued and fully paid 25,820,000 (2006: 26,700,000) new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each.

These issued new ordinary shares rank pari passu with other shares in issue in all respect. A

share premium of HK$10,528,000 (2006: HK$9,198,000) was arose from the issue and allotment

of shares. In addition an amount of HK$5,910,000 (2006: HK$4,867,000) was transferred from

share option reserve to share premium.

33. RESERVES

(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein during the year are presented

in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The share premium account includes

(i) the difference between the then combined net asset value of the subsidiaries acquired

pursuant to the Group reorganisation in 2001, over the nominal value of the share capital

of the Company issued in exchange therefore;

(ii) the premium arising from the capitalisation issue in previous years;

(iii) issue of shares of the Company at a premium net of the transaction costs associated with

the issue of shares; and

(iv) amount transferred from other equity reserves upon exercise of share option and

conversion of convertible bond.
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33. RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Company

Convertible Share
Share Capital bonds equity option Accumulated

premium reserves reserve reserve losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2006 85,981 140,667 — — (149,068) 77,580

Share options granted

(note 34(a)) — — — 11,190 — 11,190

Share options cancelled — — — (413) — (413)

Exercise of share

options and issue

of shares (note 32(g)) 14,065 — — (4,867) — 9,198

Net loss for the year — — — — (40,087) (40,087)

At 31 December 2006

and 1 January 2007 100,046 140,667 — 5,910 (189,155) 57,468

Issue of convertible

bonds (note 30) — — 189,421 — — 189,421

Issue of shares 363,696 — — — — 363,696

Issue of shares

on conversion

of convertible

bonds (note 32(f)) 80,240 — (42,160) — — 38,080

Exercise of share

options and issue

of shares

(note 32(g)) 16,438 — — (5,910) — 10,528

Net loss for the year — — — — (151,756) (151,756)

At 31 December 2007 560,420 140,667 147,261 — (340,911) 507,437

Details of the share premium account of the Company are set out in note 33(a) above.
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34. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company has a share option scheme, which was adopted on 6 June 2002 and , unless otherwise

cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date (the “Scheme”), for the purpose

of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s

operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the Company’s directors, independent non-

executive directors (the “INED(s)”), other employees of the Group, suppliers of goods or services to

the Group, customers of the Group, any person or entity that provides research, development or other

technological support to the Group and any minority shareholder in the Company’s subsidiaries.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme

is equivalent to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.

Pursuant to the extraordinary general meeting passed on 10 March 2006, the general scheme limit of

the Company’s share option scheme was reset to 52,520,000 shares, representing 10% of the

Company’s issued share capital on the date of the meeting, with the passing of ordinary resolution,

which allows the Company to grant further options carrying the rights to subscribe for a maximum of

52,520,000 shares.

Pursuant to the extraordinary general meeting passed on 31 October 2007, the Company’s share

option scheme was reset to 95,272,000 shares, representing 10% of the Company’s issued share

capital on the date of the meeting, with the passing of ordinary resolution, which allows the Company

to grant further options carrying the rights to subscribe for a maximum of 95,272,000 shares.

The maximum number of shares issuable under the Scheme to each eligible participant within any

12-month period, is limited to 1%, of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant

of share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to

any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the INEDs, in addition, any share options

granted to a substantial shareholder or an INED of the Company, or to any of their associates, in

excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based

on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any

12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer, upon

payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share

options granted is determinable by the directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and

ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of the offer of the share options or the

expiry date of the Scheme, if earlier.



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2007

Xian Yuen Titanium Resources Holdings Limited

96

34. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the directors, but may not be less than the

higher of:

(a) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer of the share

options;

(b) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days

immediately preceding the date of the offer; and

(c) the nominal value of the shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

Movements of the share options granted by the Company under the Scheme are as follows:

2007 2006

Number Number

At 1 January 25,820,000 —

Granted (note (a))

— on 7 March 2006 — 32,000,000

— on 2 May 2006 — 14,200,000

— on 27 November 2006 — 8,720,000

25,820,000 54,920,000

Cancelled — (2,400,000)

Exercised (note (b)) (25,820,000) (26,700,000)

At 31 December — 25,820,000
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34. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Share options granted vest immediately. The fair value of the 54,920,000 share options granted in

2006 was approximately HK$11,190,000 which was recognised as to HK$10,170,000 as employee

benefits expenses and other administrative expenses of HK$1,020,000 in the consolidated income

statement for the year ended 31 December 2006. The amount of HK$11,190,000 had been credited

to share option reserve. No liabilities had been recognised due to these equity settled share-based

payment transactions. There were no share options being granted in 2007.

The fair values of share options granted to employees of HK$10,170,000 in 2006 were determined

by an independent valuer using the Black-Scholes Model (the “Model”). Details of the inputs to the

Model are as follows:

Share options Share options Share options

granted on granted on granted on

7 March 2006 2 May 2006 27 November 2006

at exercise at exercise at exercise

price of price of price of

HK$0.35 HK$0.365 HK$0.54

Expected volatility (%) 79% 94% 108%

Risk-free interest rate (%) 4.207% 4.216% 3.657%

Dividend yield (%) 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

The fair value of share options granted to a third party of HK$1,020,000 for consultancy services

rendered in 2006 was determined based on the invoiced amount of service provided.
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34. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) In respect of the share options exercised during the year, the weighted average share price of the

Company at the dates of exercise ranged from HK$0.35 to HK$0.87 per share (2006: from HK$0.5 to

HK$0.61 per share). The share options exercised during the year resulted in the issue of 25,820,000

(2006: 26,700,000) ordinary shares of the Company (note 32(g)).

As at 31 December 2007, the Group has no outstanding share options and exercise prices are

as follows:

2007 2006

Weighted Weighted

average average

exercise price exercise price

Number per share Number per share

HK$ HK$

Exercise period:

10 March 2006 to

9 March 2011 — — 10,900,000 0.350

2 May 2006 to 9 March 2011 — — 6,200,000 0.365

27 November 2006

to 9 March 2011 — — 8,720,000 0.540

At 31 December — — 25,820,000 0.418

At 31 December 2006, the Company had 25,820,000 share options outstanding under the Scheme.

The exercise in full of the remaining share options would, under the present capital structure of the

Company, result in the issue of 25,820,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company including

additional share capital of HK$258,000 and share premium of HK$10,529,000.

Subsequent to the balance sheet date and up to the date of these financial statements, no additional

share option were granted.
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35. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

At 31 December 2007, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable

operating lease falling due as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 6,199 3,474

In the second to fifth years, inclusive 5,759 521

11,958 3,995

The Group leases certain leasehold land and buildings under operating leases. The leases run for an

initial period of two to three years, with an option to renew the lease and renegotiate the terms at

expiry date or at dates as mutually agreed between the Group and respective landlords/lessors. None

of the leases include contingent rentals.

The Company did not have any significant lease commitments at 31 December 2006 and 2007.

36. OPERATING SUB-LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

At 31 December 2007, the Group had total future minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable

operating lease falling due as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year — 822

In the second to fifth years, inclusive — —

— 822

The Group sub-leased its property under operating lease arrangements which run for an initial period

of one to two years, with an option to renew the lease terms at the expiry date or at dates as mutually

agreed between the Group and the respective tenants. The terms of the leases generally also require

the tenants to pay security deposits.

The Company did not have any significant lease arrangements at 31 December 2006 and 2007.
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37. COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2007, the Group had the following outstanding capital commitments:

(a) The Group entered into agreements with various parties in relation to exploration and evaluation
expenditures to be capitalised. As at 31 December 2007, the total contracted amount was
HK$5,110,000 (2006: Nil).

(b) In December 2005, the Group entered into an acquisition agreement with China National Materials
Storage and Transportation Guangzhou Corp (the “Vendor”) to purchase the Logistic and Financial
Management System (the “System”) at a total consideration of RMB6,000,000. Subsequently in
November 2006, the consideration was revised from HK$6,000,000 to HK$3,000,000 and this
would be settled in cash based on the revised terms. As at 31 December 2006, deposits totalling
of HK$2,000,000 was paid and these were included as “deposits” under non-current assets in
the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2006. As at 31 December 2006, capital
commitment arising from this acquisition was approximately HK$1,000,000 in cash. As the
purchase of the System was completed during the year ended 31 December 2007, the deposits
of HK$2,000,000 was transferred to property, plant and equipment and thus there was no
commitment noted for the System as at 31 December 2007.

(c) In December 2006, the Group entered into an acquisition agreement to acquire 70% equity
interest in Win Alliance, which is engaged in trading of goods at a total consideration of
HK$12,200,000 and has a wholly-owned subsidiary, namely 唐山勝盟, whose principal activity
is manufacturing of carpets. The consideration was satisfied (i) as to HK$7,200,000 by issuing
18,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company at HK$0.40 per share which was considered by the
directors of the Company as the fair value with reference to the published price of the share on
date of issue, and (ii) as to HK$5,000,000 for cash. As at 31 December 2006, a refundable
deposit of HK$1,750,000 was paid and this was included as “deposits” under non-current assets
in the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2006. Accordingly, as at 31 December
2006, capital commitment arising from this acquisition was HK$3,250,000 in cash and issue of
18,000,000 consideration shares of the Company. As the transaction was completed on 2 March
2007 (note 39(a)), the deposit was transferred to the cost of investment and thus there was no
commitment in this regard as at 31 December 2007.

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Apart from the balances and transactions with related parties disclosed elsewhere in the financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with its related parties during the year:

(a) Orient Carpet, a wholly-owned subsidiary entered into a sub-letting agreement with Orient
Securities Limited, a company in which a director of the Company had beneficial interest, to
sublet part of the office at 8/F, Luk Kwok Centre, Wanchai, Hong Kong to Orient Securities
Limited at the monthly rental of HK$30,338, totalling to HK$180,028 for the year (2006:
HK$364,056).

(b) During the year, the Group acquired 50% equity interest in Go On from Mr. So Chi Keung, a
director of the Company, for a consideration of HK$1.
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Compensation of key management personnel

Included in staff costs are key management personnel compensation (including directors’

emoluments) and comprises the following categories:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Short term employee benefits 7,682 5,520

Contribution to retirement benefit scheme 55 59

Share-based payment — 5,129

7,737 10,708

39. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

(a) Win Alliance

On 15 February 2007, the Group completed the acquisition of 70% equity interest in Win Alliance,

as described in notes 18, 32(a) and 37(c), through Wise Mount, a 100% indirectly-owned

subsidiary of the Company, at the consideration comprising of cash of HK$5,000,000 and

consideration shares of HK$7,200,000. Win Alliance’s principal activity is trading of goods and

has a wholly-owned subsidiary, namely 唐山勝盟, whose principal activity is manufacturing of

carpets. Goodwill arising from acquisition has been fully impaired during the year.

Details of net identifiable assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

HK$’000

Purchase consideration

— Cash paid 5,000
— Fair value of shares issued (note 32(a)) 7,200

Total purchase consideration 12,200
Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (11,446)

Goodwill (note 18) 754



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2007

Xian Yuen Titanium Resources Holdings Limited

102

39. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

(a) Win Alliance (Continued)

The identifiable assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows:

Acquiree’s
Fair carrying

value amount
HK$’000 HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment 8,676 8,676

Prepaid lease payments 9,000 9,000

Trade receivables 2,499 2,499

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 1,633 1,633

Cash at banks and in hand 1 1

Trade payables (2,274) (2,274)

Deposits received, other payables and accruals (3,184) (3,184)

Net assets 16,351 16,351

Minority interests (30%) (4,905)

Net identifiable assets acquired 11,446

Purchase consideration settled in cash (5,000)

Cash at banks and in hand in the subsidiaries acquired 1

Cash outflow on acquisition (4,999)

Since the acquisition, Win Alliance and its subsidiary contributed a revenue and a loss of

HK$14,378,000 and HK$835,000 respectively to the Group for the period ended 31 December

2007.

Had the acquisition been taken place at 1 January 2007, the revenue and the loss of the Group

for the year ended 31 December 2007 would have been approximately HK$58,047,000 and

HK$78,551,000 respectively. The proforma information is for illustrative purposes only and is

not necessarily indicative of revenue and results of the Group that actually would have been

achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2007 nor are they intended to be

projection of future results.
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39. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

(b) Go On

As described in note 18 to the financial statements, on 29 March 2007, the Group acquired

100% equity interest in Go On at a cash consideration of HK$2 through a wholly-owned subsidiary,

namely Aurora International. Goodwill arising from this acquisition has been fully impaired during

the year.

Details of net identifiable liabilities acquired and goodwill are as follows:

HK$’000

Fair value of net identifiable liabilities acquired 327

Total purchase consideration

— Cash paid —

Goodwill (note 18) 327

The identifiable assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows:

Acquiree’s
Fair carrying

value amount
HK$’000 HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment 284 284

Deposits received, other payables and accruals (313) (313)

Finance lease payables (298) (298)

Net identifiable liabilities acquired (327) (327)

HK$’000

Purchase consideration in cash —

Cash at banks and in hand in the subsidiary acquired —

Cash outflow on acquisition —
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39. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

(b) Go On (Continued)

Since the acquisition, Go On contributed no revenue and a loss of HK$103,000 to the Group for
the period ended 31 December 2007.

Had the acquisition been taken place at 1 January 2007, the revenue and the loss of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2007 would have been approximately HK$55,647,000 and
HK$78,593,000 respectively. The proforma information is for illustrative purposes only and is
not necessarily indicative of revenue and results of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2007 nor are they intended to be
projection of future results.

(c) Kanson

As described in notes 18, 30 and 32(e) to the financial statements, on 5 November 2007, the
Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement for the acquisition of 51% equity interest in
Kanson from Ms. Leung Lai Ching Margaret. Kanson also has 100% equity interest in HKFSMI,
BFSMI and QFSMI, the principal activity of all of which is the exploration of mine.

Details of net identifiable assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

HK$’000

Purchase consideration:

— Cash paid 100,000
— Fair value of convertible bonds issued (note 30) 365,467
— Fair value of shares issued (note 32(e)) 175,500

Total purchase consideration 640,967
Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (29,482)

Goodwill (note 18) 611,485

According to the sale and purchase agreement, another zero-coupon convertible bonds with face
value of HK$400,000,000 will be issued on the fifth business day following the date of receipt of mining
license in respect of the underlying mine. As at 31 December 2007, Kanson and its subsidiaries were
still in the progress of obtaining the mining license. Thus convertible bonds have not been issued and
not included in the purchase consideration above. The fair value of the mining right has also not been
included in the above net identifiable assets acquired. The above purchase consideration and the fair
value of net identifiable assets acquired were determined provisionally and are subject to change
upon the receipt of the mining license; thus the goodwill was also determined provisionally.
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39. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

(c) Kanson (Continued)

The identifiable assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows:

Acquiree’s
Fair carrying

value amount
HK$’000 HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment 2,598 2,598

Exploratory and evaluation assets 19,064 19,064

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 15,270 15,270

Cash at banks and in hand 20,875 20,875

Net identifiable assets 57,807 57,807

Minority interests (49%) (28,325)

Net identifiable assets acquired 29,482

Purchase consideration settled in cash (100,000)

Cash at banks and in hand in the subsidiaries acquired 20,875

Cash outflow on acquisition (79,125)

The goodwill was only determined provisionally and it largely represents the fair value of the

mining right which has not been recognised as at 31 December 2007 due to the reason stated

above.

Since the acquisition, Kanson and its subsidiaries contributed no revenue and a loss of

HK$3,007,000 to the Group for the period ended 31 December 2007.

Had the acquisition been taken place at 1 January 2007, the revenue and the loss of the Group

for the year ended 31 December 2007 would have been approximately HK$55,647,000 and

HK$89,816,000 respectively. The proforma information is for illustrative purposes only and is

not necessarily indicative of revenue and results of the Group that actually would have been

achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2007 nor are they intended to be

projection of future results.
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40. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

As mentioned in note 5(a) to the financial statements, on 30 May 2007, the Group disposed of its

100% equity interest in South Hill for a consideration of HK$1. Particulars of the disposal transaction

are as follows:

HK$’000

Net liabilities disposed of:

Property, plant and equipment 373
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables 143
Cash at banks and in hand 3
Finance lease payables (272)
Deposits received, other payables and accruals (528)

(281)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 281

Total consideration —

Satisfied by cash —

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the disposal of South Hill is as

follows:

HK$’000

Total consideration —
Cash at banks and in hand disposed of (3)

Net cash outflow in respect of the disposal

of a subsidiary (3)
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41. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group does not have written risk management policies and guidelines. However, the board of

directors meets periodically to analyse and formulate strategies to manage the Group’s exposure to

market risk, including interest rate risk and foreign currency exchange risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

Generally, the Group employs conservative strategies on its risk management. The Group’s exposure

to market risk is kept at a minimum level. The Group has not used any derivatives or other instruments

for hedging purposes. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading

purposes.

(a) Credit risk

The carrying amounts of trade receivables represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit

risk in relation to its financial assets. The carrying amounts of these financial assets presented

in balance sheet are net of impairment losses, if any. The Group minimises its exposure to the

credit risk by rigorously selecting the counterparties, performing ongoing credit evaluation on

the financial conditions of its debtors and tightly monitoring the ageing of the receivables. Follow-

up actions are taken in case of overdue balances on an ongoing basis. In addition, management

monitors and reviews the recoverable amount of the receivables individually or collectively at

each balance sheet date to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable

amounts. The Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents,

is also limited because all the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are deposited with the major

banks located in Hong Kong and the PRC.

As the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy counterparties, there is no requirement

for collateral.

(b) Foreign currency risk

The sales and purchases of the Group are predominantly in USD, RMB and HK$. The Group

does not hedge its foreign currency risks. Exposures to currency exchange rates arise from

certain of the Group’s cash and bank balances, trade receivables, trade payables, other

receivables and other payables which are denominated in USD and RMB respectively. The Group

does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency risk. The Group reviews

its foreign currency exposures regularly and does not consider its foreign exchange risk to be

significant.
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41. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the balance sheet date to foreign currency

risk from the above stated items denominated in a currency other than the functional currency

of relevant group companies.

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash and cash equivalents denominated in

— USD 13,964 14

— RMB 1,860 344

Trade and bills receivables denominated in

— USD 11,720 —

— RMB 985 638

Trade payables denominated in

— USD 11,521 —

— RMB 4,315 3,689

Other receivables denominated in RMB 11,330 541

Other payables denominated in RMB 16,828 14,434

Apart from the above, all the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are denominated in HK$.

By assessing foreign currency risk on cash and bank balances, trade receivables and payables

and, other receivables and payables, the effect arising from a reasonably possible change in the

exchange rates of HK$ against USD and RMB in the next twelve months was not material to the

loss for the year and accumulated losses at each of the balance sheet date, on the basis that all

other variables remain constant.
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41. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

The interest rates and terms of repayment of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are disclosed

in note 28. As the Group has no significant variable interest-bearing financial liabilities, the

Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market

interest rate. The directors of the Company consider the Group’s exposures to cash flow interest

rate risk on bank balances and other receivables with variable interest bearing, as follows:

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is exposed to changes in market interest rates through its cash at banks and other

receivables, which are subject to variable interest rates.

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s loss after tax and

accumulated losses in response to reasonably possible changes in the interest rate, to which

the Group has significant exposure at the balance sheet date.

2007 2006

Increase/ Effect on loss Increase/ Effect on loss
(decrease) in after tax and (decrease) in after tax and

interest accumulated interest accumulated

rate losses rate losses

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at banks 1% 409 1% 5

Cash at banks (1%) (409) (1%) (5)

Other receivables 1% 245 1% —

Other receivables (1%) (245) (1%) —

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rate

had occurred at the balance sheet date and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate

risk for both derivative and non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that date. The 1%

increase/decrease represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in

interest rates over the period until the next annual balance sheet date. The analysis is performed

on the same basis for 2006.
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41. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Fair values

The fair values of the Group’s current financial assets and liabilities are not materially different

from their carrying amount because of the immediate or short term maturity. The fair values of

non-current liabilities were not disclosed because their carrying value is not materially different

from their fair value.

(e) Liquidity risk

The Group maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents assessed as adequate by management

to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The

Group relies on internally generated funding and borrowings as significant sources of liquidity.

The maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities as at the balance

sheet dates, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows:

Group

2007
Within 6 to 12 1 to 5

6 months months years
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 19,704 — —
Other payables and accruals 36,200 — —
Finance lease payables 45 46 130
Bank and other borrowings 5,340 — —
Amounts due to

minority shareholders — — 37,602
Convertible bonds — — 139,671

61,289 46 177,403

2006

Within 6 to 12 1 to 5

6 months months years

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 9,723 — —

Other payables and accruals 20,182 — —

Amounts due to directors 1,143 — —

Finance lease payables 38 38 234

Bank and other borrowings 5 — —

Amounts due to minority shareholders — — 924

31,091 38 1,158
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41. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Company

2007
Within 6 to 12 1 to 5

6 months months years
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other payables and accruals 6,891 — —
Convertible bonds — — 139,671

6,891 — 139,671

2006

Within 6 to 12 1 to 5

6 months months years

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other payables and accruals 2,167 — —

Amount due to a director 100 — —

2,267 — —
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41. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(f) Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as recognised at 31 December

2007 and 2006 are categorised as follows. See notes 3(m) and 3(q) for explanations about how

the categorisation of financial instruments affects their subsequent measurement.

Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets (Current)
Loans and receivables
— Cash at banks and

 in hand 50,725 776 5,688 9
— Trade and bills

receivables 17,219 4,504 — —
— Other receivables 89,763 1,849 280 3

157,707 7,129 5,968 12

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

Current
Trade payables 19,704 9,723 — —
Other payables and

accruals 36,200 20,182 6,891 2,167
Amounts due to

directors — 1,143 — 100
Finance lease payables 91 76 — —
Bank and other

borrowings 5,340 5 — —

Non-current
Finance lease payables 130 234 — —
Amounts due to minority

shareholders 37,602 924 — —
Convertible bonds 139,671 — 139,671 —

238,738 32,287 146,562 2,267
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42. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

(a) To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it continues to provide
returns and benefits for stakeholders;

(b) To support the Group’s stability and growth; and

(c) To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Group’s risk management capability.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to ensure optimal capital
structure and shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements of the
Group. The Group currently does not adopt any formal dividend policy. Management regards total
equity less convertible bond — equity components as capital, for capital management purpose. The
amount of capital as at 31 December 2007 amounted to approximately HK$477,367,000 (2006:
HK$62,801,000), which management considers as optimal having considered the projected capital
expenditures and the forecast strategic investment opportunities.

43. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

(a) Disposal of Orient Carpet

On 16 January 2008, the Group entered into a non-binding Memorandum of Understanding (the
“MOU”) such that the entire issued share capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary, namely Orient
Carpet (which has a direct wholly-owned subsidiary, Hui Zhou Orient Carpet), is to be sold to an
independent third party for a consideration at HK$19,300,000 except for all current assets and
all liabilities recorded in the books of Orient Carpet and Hui Zhou Carpet which shall remain
with the Group. Both Orient Carpet and Hui Zhou Orient Carpet are principally engaged in
manufacturing and sale of carpets.

The impact of this transaction will be accounted for as discontinued operations in the financial
statements in 2008 in accordance with HKFRS 5. The results of Orient Carpet and Hui Zhou
Orient Carpet for the year ended 31 December 2006 and 2007 have been included in trading of
carpets and manufacturing carpets segments respectively (note 6).
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43. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS (Continued)

(b) Disposal of International Carpet

On 10 March 2008, a Share Sale Agreement was entered into between the Group and another

independent third party such that all 51% equity interest currently held by the Group in

International Carpet is to be sold for a consideration of HK$200,000. International Carpet is

principally engaged in trading carpets of other renowned brand names. Details of this transaction

have been set out in the Company’s circular dated 21 April 2008.

The impact of this transaction will be accounted for as discontinued operations in the financial

statements in 2008 in accordance with HKFRS 5. The results of International Carpet for the year

ended 31 December 2006 and 2007 have been included in trading of carpets (note 6).

(c) Subscription of shares in Aurora Logistic Finance

On 10 March 2008, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries, Capital Gain Assets Management

Limited (“Capital Gain”), a company in which Mr. Pang has beneficial interests, and Mr. Pang

entered into a subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”). In consideration of

assumption by Capital Gain of the obligation of the Group to contribute approximately

US$4,070,000 (equivalent to approximately HK31,746,000) (note 17) to the registered capital of

Da Sheng, the Group agreed to allot and issue 804 ordinary shares of Aurora Logistic Finance,

a subsidiary of the Company, of US$1.00 each to Capital Gain. As a result, the Company’s

interest in Aurora Logistic Finance shall be diluted from 100% to 19.6%. The directors consider

the transaction was entered into by the Group on normal commercial terms and on arm’s length

basis. Details of this transaction have been set out in the Company’s circular dated 21 April

2008.

(d) Acquisition of 49% equity interest in Kanson

On 8 April 2008, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with Ms. Leung Lai

Ching Margaret to acquire the remaining 49% equity interest in Kanson for a total consideration

of HK$960,780,000. The total consideration will be settled by the issue of zero-coupon convertible

bonds with face value of HK$580,000,000 which will be issued upon completion of the transaction

and by the issue of zero-coupon convertible bonds with face value of HK$380,780,000 which

will be issued on the fifth business day following the date of receipt of mining license in respect

of the underlying mine in the PRC.


